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Corporate Information
NEER

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
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348 Kwun Tong Road

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
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Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Link Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty Limited
Suite 1601, 16/F, Central Tower,

28 Queen’s Road Central Hong Kong

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Corporate press releases, financial reports and other
investor information are available online at the
website of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
Direct enquiries to:
Facsimile: +852 2262 7843

Email: renzhi.zhou@oneforce.com.cn
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Group Structure
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OneForce Holdings Limited™
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Directors and Senior Management

HHELRAEHEAR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Dongbin, aged 56, is a founder of our Group, and the
Chairman and an executive Director. Mr. WANG is also the chairman
of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. He is primarily responsible for the
overall business corporate strategies planning and development of
our Group.

He obtained a bachelor’s degree in modern physics application from
Tsinghua University in the PRC in July 1990. He obtained a master’s
degree in nuclear physics from Tsinghua University in July 1992.

Mr. WANG has over 20 years of experience in the information
technology industry. Prior to founding our Group, Mr. WANG started
his career in the industry when he was first employed as a technical
director by Beijing Teletron Internet Technology Company Ltd.
between May 1996 and June 2001. He then joined Becom Software
Co, Ltd. as the general manager between July 2001 and April 2008.
Between May 2008 and July 2012, he was the executive director and
the general manager of Beijing Jietong Yishin Technology
Development Company Limited.

Mr. WU Zhanjiang, aged 55, is a founder of the Group and an
executive Director, and has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer
of the Company with effect from 1 June 2019. He is primarily
responsible for technological research and development and
commercial application of the Group’s smart city loT and smart
energy loT businesses. Mr. WU Zhanjiang graduated from North
China Electric Power University and obtained a master’s degree in
Automation of Electric Power System in March 1996. In 2015, Mr.
WU Zhanjiang graduated from China Europe International Business
School and obtained the EMBA certificate. Mr. WU Zhanjiang has
over 20 years of experience in the electric power industry in the PRC
and has accumulated abundant experience in technological research
and commercial application of smart city loT and smart energy loT
areas.

Mr. WU Hongyuan, aged 51, an executive Director, has been re-
designated from the post of Chief Executive Officer of the Company
to Executive President of the Company with effect from 1 June 2019
due to strategic planning. He is primarily responsible for and focus on
the operation and management of our Group’s loT. Mr. WU
Hongyuan joined our Group in December 2011 as the general
manager of the research and development and customer service
department of Along Grid and was promoted to the general manager
of Along Grid in April 2014. Mr. WU Hongyuan graduated from Beijing
Electricity College (which was incorporated into Beijing Jiaotong
University in 2000) in the PRC in July 1994, majoring in electricity
system communication.

Mr. WU Hongyuan has over 20 years of experience in the electric
power selling and management system industry. Prior to joining our
Group, he started his career as teaching staff in the information
engineering department of North China Electric Power University
between July 1994 and October 2007. He was then employed by the
Beijing Puhua Yalong Technology Company Limited as the deputy
general manager between November 2007 and December 2011.

Mr. LI Kangying, aged 67, is a founder of the Group and an executive
Director. He is primarily responsible for investment, merger and
acquisition related matters of the Group. Mr. LI graduated from
North China Electric Power University in December 1979 majoring in
telecommunication and has extensive experience in corporate
management in mainland China and Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management

HEGRREEEAR

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. NG Kong Fat, Brian, aged 68, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 5 February 2018. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He graduated from the
University of Stirling in Scotland in 1983 and was admitted as a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland in May
1987. Mr. NG has over 20 years of experience in corporate,
investment and financial management. Mr. NG has served as an
executive director of Beijing Enterprises Environment Group Limited
(stock code: 154), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and principally engaged in solid waste treatment business
in the PRC since July 1993.

Mr. HAN Bin, aged 70, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since 5 February 2018. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Audit Committee of the Company. He graduated
from North China Electric Power University (previously known as
North China Electric Power College) (“North China Electric Power
University”) in the PRC in December 1979, majoring in electricity
system communication.

Mr. HAN Bin has over 20 years of experience in the electric power
selling and management system market in the PRC. Between August
1989 and November 1992, he joined Tsingtao Electricity Supply
Company (previously known as Tsingtao Electricity Affair Department)
where he worked at various positions, including assistant engineer,
engineer and deputy head of the system operation department.
Between December 1992 and May 1999, he joined China Fulin Wind
Power Development Company where he worked as the deputy
general manager of the project department. Between June 1999 and
October 2013, he joined China Longyuan Power Group Corporation
Limited (previously known as Longyuan Power Group Limited) where
he worked at various positions, including assistant of the general
manager, deputy chief engineer and project development
department officer.

Mr. WANG Peng, aged 50, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 5 February 2018. He is also a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. He graduated from North China Electric Power University
in the PRC in July 1994, majoring in electricity system and automation
of electricity system. He obtained a master’s degree in engineering
from North China Electric Power University in January 1997. He then
obtained a doctoral degree in electricity system and automation of
electricity system from North China Electric Power University in April
2002.

Between April 1997 and May 2005, Mr. WANG Peng worked in North
China Electric Power University as teaching staff. Mr. WANG Peng
was qualified as an associate professor from North China Electric
Power University in November 2003. Between May 2005 and May
2015, he worked in National Energy Administration North China
Regulatory Authority) (previously known as National Electricity
Regulatory Commission North China Regulatory Authority). Since May
2015, he has become a professor of North China Electric Power
University. Mr. WANG Peng is currently an independent non-
executive director of Sichuan Energy Investment Development Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 1713), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

HEGRREEEAR

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LI Yanmin, aged 59, is the deputy general manager of our Group. Mr.
LI Yanmin joined our Group in October 2012 as the general manager of
the research and development and customer service department of our
Group and was promoted to the deputy general manager of our Group in
April 2016. He is primarily responsible for project management for
software systems and hardware of our Group. Mr. LI Yanmin graduated
with a bachelor’s degree in electricity engineering from Wuhan
University (previously known as Wuhan Hydro Electricity Institute) in the
PRC in July 1987. He obtained a master’s degree in electricity system and
automation of electricity system from North China Electric Power
University in January 1993.

Mr. LI Yanmin has over 20 years of experience in the electric power
selling and management system industry in the PRC. Prior to joining our
Group, between July 1987 and September 1990, and between July 1993
and October 2007, Mr. LI served as a teacher in North China Electric
Power University. Between November 2007 and September 2012, he
served as the deputy general manager of Beijing Puhua Yalong
Technology Company Limited, where he was responsible for software
and technology development.

Ms. ZHOU Renzhi, aged 36, FCCA, was appointed as the chief financial
officer of our Group in December 2020 and was primarily responsible for
financial management and compliance assurance of our Group. Ms.
ZHOU Renzhi graduated with a master’s degree in accounting and finance
from Exeter University in the UK in August 2011. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. ZHOU Renzhi worked for sizeable listed companies, she has
more than 10 years of experience in accounting, financial management
and capital operation.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. HUI Yin Shan has been appointed as the company secretary of our
Company since 30 October 2020, responsible for the company secretarial
matters of our Group. Ms. HUI is a Senior Manager of Corporate Services
of Tricor Services Limited. She is an associate member of both The
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in England and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and with over 18 years of experience
in corporate services. She has been providing professional corporate
services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as multinational, private
and offshore companies. Ms. Hui was the company secretary/joint
company secretary of several listed companies on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.
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Chairman’s Statement

FEREHE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
OneForce Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you with the annual
report of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 (the
“Year”).

As an information technology service provider, the Group is dedicated to its
relevant technical research and application in power information
technology and smart city loT. The Group provides tailor-made software
and solutions, technical services and hardware products to various types of
energy companies, government and corporate customers.

INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, China’s economy suffered, and the weak economic recovery
brought many challenges to business development. The Group complies
with national policy requirements and industry development trends,
adheres to high-quality development, stabilizes the foundation, deepens
achievements, and achieves stable operation and sustainable development.

China is the world's largest energy producer and consumer, and ensuring
power supply and consuming new energy are the main challenges facing
China in the energy sector. Through long-term infrastructure construction,
China has basically solved the problem of insufficient power supply
capacity. In 2023, the total electricity consumption of China reached
approximately 9.2 trillion kwh, a year-on-year increase of approximately
6.7%. At the same time, the green and low-carbon transformation has been
greatly promoted, with clean energy such as hydropower, nuclear power,
wind power, and solar power generating approximately 3190.6 billion kwh,
an increase of approximately 7.8% compared to the previous year. The
power energy industry is undergoing a profound transformation, and the
continuous integration of power energy and digital technology will
significantly improve energy efficiency and bring about huge business
opportunities.

Smart energy

In 2023, the National Development and Reform Commission and other
departments issued the Basic Rules of the Electricity Spot Market (Trial) and
the Notice on Further Accelerating the Construction of the Electricity Spot
Market. The process of electricity marketization is constantly accelerating.
In 2023, various power trading centers across the country have organized
and completed a total of approximately 5.67 trillion kwh of market trading
electricity, a year-on-year increase of approximately 7.9%, accounting for
approximately 61.4% of the total social electricity consumption.
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Chairman’s Statement

Bt e

On the other hand, at the end of 2023, the number of new energy vehicles
in China reached approximately 20.4 million, accounting for approximately
4.7% of the total number of vehicles. With the increase in the proportion of
integrated renewable energy in the power system and the electrification of
energy consumption, the number of devices connected to the power grid
has also increased exponentially.

With the marketization of electricity prices and the increase in the
proportion of renewable energy, the fluctuation of electricity prices is
gradually increasing, and the personalized demand for energy services is
constantly emerging. The digital construction of the power energy field
continues to innovate and upgrade in the production, scheduling,
measurement, marketing, big data and other systems on the grid side.
Digital capabilities have become the foundation for achieving market-
oriented reforms and meeting new electricity scenarios and demands.

Smart energy is the cornerstone business of the Group. Since its
establishment, the Group has been actively involved in the field of smart
energy. Starting from the power industry, it will be expanded to water, gas,
heat, oil and other energy industries, providing customized digital
transformation services for large enterprises and industry users through
the entire chain of consultation, design, development, implementation,
and operation. We will further promote the deep integration of digital
technology and the real economy, empower traditional industries to
undergo digital and intelligent transformation and upgrading, and seize
new opportunities for a new round of technological revolution and
industrial transformation.

Smart life

The 14th Five Year Plan for the Development of Digital Economy issued by
the State Council clearly states that by 2025, the added value of core
industries in the digital economy will account for 10% of the gross domestic
product. It is expected to establish a modern market system for the digital
economy by 2035, and the level of digital economy development will be
among the top in the world. The intensive release of national strategic
planning indicates that the new generation of information technology
industry will continue to develop towards "digital industrialization and
industrial digitization".
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Chairman’s Statement

Bt e

Bringing smart life with digital technology is the second curve that the
Group has embarked on. By accumulating relevant experience, technology,
and talent reserves in the field of information technology in the energy
industry, the Group entered the field of smart city in 2013. Applying
digitalization to daily life, in situations where physical facilities, economic
structure, and lifestyle patterns cannot be easily changed, digital solutions
can accelerate urban resilience and adaptability, allowing residents to
enjoy a happy life.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

The 2024 Government Work Report proposed to enhance technological
innovation capabilities, accelerate the formation of new quality productive
forces, and accelerate the construction of a beautiful China. The guidance
of national policies will promote the further expansion of the energy and
technology industry, providing historic development opportunities for the
business development of the Group.

In the future, the Group will seize important industrial opportunities such
as new energy development and new power system construction, continue
to expand the scale of energy digital business, build a richer energy
Internet service scene, create new value, share new value, promote green
development and build a beautiful China through platform data
accumulation and Al technology application.

WANG Dongbin
Chairman
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OUR INDUSTRY
Power Information Technology Industry

With the construction of new power systems and the promotion of
electricity marketization, digital systems are becoming an important
In 2023, Development and Reform
Commission and other departments issued the "Notice on Further
Accelerating the construction of the Power Spot Market" mentioned that

infrastructure. the National

the construction of the new power system and the reform of the power
market will change the existing energy supply and demand system from
the power side, the grid side and the power side, especially around the
power demand link, and comprehensively promote electrification and
energy saving. The proportion of electric energy in the total energy
consumption of the PRC is expected to reach about 35% and 70%
respectively in 2030 and 2060 on the basis of electric energy in the total
energy consumption of the whole PRC of about 26% in 2020.

As an informatization service provider in the energy industry, the Group
not only plays the role of business support and service assistance in the
construction of urban resilient grids and smart grids, but also deeply
participates in the implementation of strategies and
businesses of grid companies. We have a strong understanding of the
comprehensive characteristics and business environment of power
customers, and provide comprehensive solutions for innovative scheme
design, system development, product deployment and implementation,
and integrated operation and maintenance services. The ability to
provide integrated
competitiveness in the process of participating in the realization of the

innovative

overall solutions will become our core

power grid digitalization strategy.
Smart City loT Industry

Since 2022, China has introduced a series of strategic policies related
to domestic self-reliance and controllability, as well as industry
information and innovation substitution. At the end of September
2022, the State Owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission issued a document providing comprehensive guidance
and requiring central and state-owned enterprises to implement the
localization transformation of information technology systems.
Among them, it is explicitly required that central and state-owned
enterprises complete 100% of the replacement of information and
innovation by 2027, covering areas such as chips, basic software,
operating systems, middleware, etc.. The information and creative
industry will undergo a "full industry chain, full industry" information
technology upgrade, and the domestic software industry will also
usher in a new round of development opportunities.
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As a self-developed and globally unique intelligent loT product of
the Group, the intelligent loT gateway product m core provides
access to power and network, connects all the smart applications,
obtains data and distributes information in cities. ‘m core’ is the
sensory nerve endings of a smart city. Its applications include the
construction of smart light poles in the Mentougou District of
Beijing, which has become the first batch of smart city pilots in
Beijing; and smart garbage sorting stations in Jinan and Baoding.
Smart city projects continue to provide services to cities and
continue to obtain stable income for the Group.

Competitive strengths

Industry knowledge and experience

The design, R&D and implementation teams of the Group cover
the headquarters and branches of the three major power grid
companies, and are deployed in 29 provinces, cities, autonomous
regions and municipalities directly under the central government
nationwide. The national information service management
system of “two levels and three lines” has been constructed.

The Group has been deeply engaged in the field of electric power
informatization for nearly 30 years, and the average experience of
its main technical and management personnel in the industry is
more than 20 years. The Group has long standing and in-depth
cooperation with state grid and Inner Mongolia electric power
company. At the same time, the information service of power
customers is also extended to oil, water conservancy, thermal and
other energy fields.

Technological expertise and products

After accumulating years of technology and experience, a
comprehensive technical system has been formed that runs
through platform research and development, big data operation,
system software development, covering cloud computing, big
data, loT technology, etc., ensuring the Group's long-term
business and technology leadership and stability of sustained
profitability. Combined with the deep understanding of the
energy industry and the innovation and application ability of new
technologies, the Group helps customers realize the construction
and upgrading of digital energy system.
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The Group’s proprietary R&D support platform ARSP is the AL B 0 0 S2 IR T & ARSPAE 4 3
development and operation support platform of the Enterprise EER RSB ERET TS, HHMR
Cloud application system, which is fast, efficient, accurate and . mR. HERE. BTAY. EEERYBIANE
economical. The Group’s lab, “m Lab”, focuses on loT product MR ERE (niER=] , s [FE
development. It has developed an loT hardware product named “nt FEBP A, WA ] YA TE S E A [
Core” which has “plug and access power and network” features. TSI

The Group obtained CMMI level 5, information system integration AEHAMCMMITLE . B RFER =
level 3 and 41 management qualifications including J%1509000/14000/20001/27000% FE#% 72 5541
1IS09000/14000/20001/27000 management system, 59 test reports,  JEE P B . SOIEMHIH %5, 25K &
25 national patents and 185 software copyrights. Fl, 18STHER {4 EHE .
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B %5 ol

Revenue LN

The following table sets out the breakdown of the Group’s AAAEE, TR AR 2 3% B 8 N
revenue by business segments during the Year: P4 -

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

BE HE

2024 f£3 H 31 H 20233 B 31 H

IEEE IEEE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AR®ET T

Sale of software and solutions EHEE IR TR TT & 177,061 94,018
Provision of technical services PR AR 280,587 290,120
Sale of products P A 32,904 65,723
490,552 449,861

For the Year, the Group’s revenue increased by approximately A P A A2 BN 48 0 N IR 5 4940,691,000C
RMB40,691,000, which is mainly due to the combination of the FEEHAL TR RNGEE 2.
following factors:

(i) the increase in revenue from the sale of (i)  SHEE AR Rk J7 BN TR EE 3 R N R B

software and solutions by approximately #183,043,00070, EEERAIA(G) HMA X
RMB83,043,000, which was mainly attributable HL A5 B R G AN B (1 e 4 A0 T
to (i) the increase in demand from power grid SREE I, B (i) 4 N S it bk R R A AT
companies for maintenance and upgrading of BEVR AV ) KBS BAL & T

their power information systems and supporting
hardware; and (ii) the implementation of a
number of large-scale information construction
projects of power grid companies and energy
enterprises during the Year;

(ii) revenue from provision of technical services (i) FEHE T R U N IE R BN R A

decreased slightly by approximately 9,533,00070, ASAF A 4E [ 44 48 5 S 49
RMB9,533,000. The Group continued to provide 2T Re VRS RO SRR s &

technical maintenance services to grid
companies and energy enterprise in the Year;

and

(iii) the decrease in revenue of the sale of products by (i) #HH & M T A K 4732,819,0007C,
approximately RMB32,819,000, which was mainly = TR R A 40 V2 AE R 0 HE A E B
due to the fact that the Group completed some sales A E T IR 3T 5e .

contracts of the ubiquitous power internet of things
(loT) in the previous year.
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Cost of sales and gross profit margin

The following table sets out the breakdown of the
Group’s cost of sales and gross profit margin by business
segments during the Year:

Cost of sales (RMB’000)
Sale of software and solutions &85k f& flt ik )7 %
Provision of technical services 2t HE T ARFS

Sale of products PHAEEE

Gross profit margin EViES

Sale of software and solutions  $HEEERF S ik 7 %
Provision of technical services 2t HE T ARF

Sale of products BHAEEE

For the Year, the year-on-year increase in cost of
sales of the Group was approximately RMB58,492,000,
which was driven by the growth in revenue of sales.
Meanwhile, overall gross profit margin fell from
approximately 21.1% to approximately 15.7%, mainly due to
(i) the Group hiring more personnel for technical support
during business expansion, resulting in an increase in
outsourced labor costs; and (ii) as market competition
intensified, the Group adjusted its pricing for new projects to
acquire long-term customers.
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31 March 2024 31 March 2023
= HE
2024 3 H 31 H 20233 H31H
LR R
143,203 69,861
241,271 227,915
29,000 57,206
413,474 354,982
19.1% 25.7%
14.0% 21.4%
11.9% 13.0%
15.7% 21.1%

AT, AEE BB AR 2N B R R
g, [F LN A R 4958,492,0000T. R,
TR REL21.1% FFEEL15.7%, T8
SRR (VAR EEHESREfEPEHES
PN BT HIT S, M TR B3k, &
(i) T 5wt F g, AR B SR IE H PR IR A
LIERRIIE .



CEO’s Review and Management Discussionand Analysis

THAROENEIEENREAS T

Administrative and other operating expenses AT J Hofh AR %% &
Below sets out a breakdown of the Group’s administrative TAARIEEE N, AEEFEAT B R HAh A8 2 H 5
and other operating expenses incurred for the Year: 1B R

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

B=E BE

2024 f£3 A 31 H 202343 H 31 H

IEFRE FFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTFT

Labour costs NENC %N 6,035 6,508
R&D expenses TifF % & 24,510 29,912
Professional services expenses R & 4,898 4,151
Others HoAt 13,055 9,013
48,498 49,584

For the Year, the Group’s administrative and other operating expenses FAARFERE N, AN B S A AT S HAh 48 2
decreased by approximately RMB1,086,000, or approximately 2.2% as RN R ¥ 491,086,0000G, B8 FAFEREE

compared with the previous year. The decrease was mainly due to: Tr2.2%. ZTFBEERRR:

(i) R&D expenses decreased by approximately (i) W& N B 4Y5,402,0000C, 1
RMB5,402,000, mainly due to the improvement of B A AE B R AR, AT
R&D efficiency, shortening of R&D hours, and saving BETHE, FTAURTEERA

of R&D costs by the Group; and

(ii) Other expenses increased by approximately (i) HoAth & A1 A\ B ¥ 494,042,000 .
RMB4,042,000, mainly due to: (i) the increase in A ()BT AR B A R
technical services fees by approximately #71,325,00070, & ZEERRFHEINAT L
RMB1,325,000, mainly attributed to the increase in KEAMEL B TN R (i) B B A
the number of administrative outsourced employees, L #s 491,010,000 7C «

and (ii) the increase in office expenses by
approximately RMB1,010,000.
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Trade and bills receivables

Below sets out a breakdown of the Group’s trade and bills

receivables as at 31 March 2024:

Trade receivables & 7 SR K
Bills receivables JEIN EE
Total JFIHAR

Less: loss allowance W SRR
AR VEHE

Net book value

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s net book value of trade
and bills receivables increased by approximately
RMB65,939,000, or approximately 17.3% as compared with
previous year. The Group's credit policy and the creditability
of its customers had no material change compared to
previous years. The Group will continue to improve its
collection management system, formulate better collection
plan, and take various measures including obtaining the
progress confirmation from the owner in a timely manner, to
strengthen the collection of trade and bills receivables.
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For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
B=E HZE
202443 A 31 H 20233 H31H
fIe: 3 fIe: 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
484,264 406,239

453 583

484,717 406,822
36,985 25,029
447,732 381,793
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Inventories and other contract costs

Below sets out a breakdown of the Group’s inventories
and other contract costs as at 31 March 2024:

Software systems under development  ZEWFIER {1 R &

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's inventories and contract
costs increased by approximately RMB39,279,000. This was
mainly due to the increase in the number and scale of large-
scale informatisation  construction  projects  under
development by the Group at the end of the Year compared
with the previous year.

R&D expenditure

Below sets out a breakdown of the Group’s
capitalised/R&D expenditure charged to profit or loss
accounts incurred for the Year:

FE R A RS

R20244E3H31H, AEEMGE KA FRA RS
LN

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BE HE

20243 A 31 H 202343 H31H
IEEFE IFFE

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETx ARETT

58,704 19,425

Charged to profit or loss accounts  #T N\ 4R 44

The Group’s R&D expenditure decreased by

approximately 18.1% as compared with the previous year.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cumulatively
registered a total of 25 patents and 185 software
copyrights in China (31 March 2023: 25 patents and 172
software copyrights).
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For the For the
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31 March 2024 31 March 2023
B=E BHE

20243 H 31 H 20233 B 31 H
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RMB’000 RMB’000
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s operation and
capital requirements were financed principally through a
combination of cash flows from operating activities and bank
borrowings. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had net current
assets of RMB260,298,000 (31 March 2023: RMB248,408,000),
including bank balances and cash of RMB62,891,000 (31 March
2023: RMB55,517,000). The Group’s current ratio (as
calculated by current assets divided by current liabilities)
changed from 1.87 times as at 31 March 2023 to 1.71 times as
at 31 March 2024.

Gearing ratio is calculated by net debt divided by total capital
as at the end of the year. Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings (including bank borrowings and finance lease
payables, if any) less cash and bank balances, while total
capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position, plus net debt, where
applicable. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2024 was
22% (31 March 2023: 6%).

The change in liquidity position was mainly due to the Group’s
efforts to explore new business, new customers and new
market, which led to more working capital investment.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:

(i) market risk (including cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk); (ii) credit risk; and (iii) liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

CASH FLOW AND FAIR VALUE INTEREST RATE RISK

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings amounted
to approximately RMB142,375,000 (31 March 2023:
RMB73,631,000), which bears a fixed interest rate of 2.2% to
4.9% p.a. As such, the Group was limitedly exposed to interest
rate risk.
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CREDIT RISK

Credit risk arises mainly from cash deposited at banks, trade
receivables and contract assets, deposits and other
receivables. In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit
risk is considered to be low as the counterparties are banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies.

The management of the Company makes periodic assessment
on the recoverability of trade receivables, contract assets and
other receivables based on historical payment records, the
length of the overdue period, the financial strength of the
debtors and whether there are any disputes with the debtors.
The Group’s historical experience in collection of trade
receivables, contract assets and other receivables falls within
the recorded allowances, and the management is of the
opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible receivables
has been made in the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, 26% (31 March 2023: 21%) of the total
amount of trade receivables and contract assets was due from
the Group’s largest customer and 73% (31 March 2023: 66%)
was due from the five largest customers determined on the
same basis.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of
the Group. Such forecasting takes into consideration the
Group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance and, if
applicable, external regulatory or legal requirements — for
example, currency restrictions.

The Group maintains liquidity by a number of sources
including orderly realisation of short-term financial assets and
receivables; and long-term financing including long-term
borrowings, if any. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping sufficient bank balances, committed credit
lines available and interest-bearing borrowings which enable
the Group to continue its business for the foreseeable future.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any contract
commitments (31 March 2023: nil). The details regarding the
Group’s future lease payments are disclosed in Note 24.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of the Company only comprises of ordinary
shares. As at 31 March 2024, the Company had 503,927,177
shares in issue (31 March 2023: 503,927,177 shares).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not hold any significant
investments (31 March 2023: none).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have
any acquisition or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus or otherwise in this annual
report, the Group currently has no other plan for material
investments and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2024 (31 March 2023: none).

TREASURY MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no material
change in the Group’s funding and treasury policies. The
Group has a sufficient level of cash and banking facilities for
the conduct of its trade in the normal course of business.

The management of the Company closely reviews trade
receivable balances and any overdue balances on an ongoing
basis, and only trades with creditworthy parties. The
management of the Company closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the
Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements to manage liquidity risk.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, a total of RMB10,000,000 of the Group’s
bank deposits were charged as security for bank borrowings of
the Group (31 March 2023: nil).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no property, plant and

equipment that was held under finance leases (31 March 2023:

none).

EXCHANGE RATE RISK

The Group principally conducts its business in RMB and has
limited exposure to the foreign exchange risk. However, as its
Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, any changes in value
of HK dollars and the interest rates will affect the performance
of the Group. The Group currently does not engage in any
hedging activities designated or intended to manage foreign
exchange rate risk. Therefore, the Group will closely monitor
the exchange rate risk and interest rate risk concerned,
actively explore foreign exchange hedging options with major
banks and use financial instruments to hedge against such

risks when necessary.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The total number of employees was approximately 517 as at
31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: approximately 538). The
Group’s employee benefit expenses mainly included salaries,
overtime payment and discretionary bonus, share options,
other staff benefits and contributions to retirement schemes.
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s total
employee benefit expenses (including Directors’ emoluments)
amounted to RMB99.8 million (31 March 2023: RMB104.1
million).

Remuneration is determined with reference to the
qualification, experience and work performance of employees,
whereas the payment of discretionary bonus is generally
subject to work performance, the financial performance of the
Group in that particular year and general market conditions.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and that the risks of non-compliance
with such requirements. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief, and having made all
reasonable enquiries, the Group complied with all applicable
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong in all material
respects during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group also complied with the requirements under the
Listing Rules and the SFO for the disclosure of information and

corporate governance in all material respects.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the
environment during its business activities. The Group
continually seeks to identify and manage the environmental
impacts attributable to its operational activities in order to
minimize these impacts.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group. The Group strictly complies with the labour laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong and regularly
reviews the existing staff benefits for improvement.

The Group provides quality services to customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able to
establish trust and long-standing business relationship with its
major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and
develops long-term and stable relationships with suppliers.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no material
dispute or disagreement between the Group and its suppliers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Opportunity always comes with challenge. While

strengthening our technological expertise and market position,

the Group is facing the following main operational risks:
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Reliance on major customers

Our revenue was mainly derived from the provision of
software and solutions, technical services and sale of products
to IMPG, SGCC and CSG. For the year ended 31 March 2024,
the revenue attributable to our five largest customers
represented over 89% of our total revenue. Even though the
Group has been proactively approaching new customers in,
electric power retailing, public utilities and electric power
generation sectors, the exploration of new markets and
expansion of customer base require heavy initial investments
in time and resources and is uncertain in nature. As such, the
Group is likely to retain a notable concentration in customer
base in the forthcoming few years. If IMPG, SGCC and CSG
adjust their respective investment plan and procurement
model in the business sector the Group operates, or our
product and service offerings cannot satisfy customers’
demands, which would lead to a decrease in procurement
from the Group by its customers, or the Group’s R&D projects
may not be commercialised, and our results of operation and
profitability may be adversely affected.

In this respect, the Group is going to proactively expand in the
area of power 10T and increase its share of revenue in the
Group’s profile. Meanwhile, by leveraging new technologies
such as cloud computing, big data and mobile internet, the
Group will actively develop new market and business in the
smart life sector.

Seasonality of business

The Group’s major customers are electric power grid
companies featuring a top-down management structure.
Accordingly, their internal procedures for investment approval
are centrally planned and managed. In general, electric power
grid companies set up next year’s investment plans (including
information technology related projects) toward the end of
the current year. In the following year, budgeted projects are
implemented (from tendering to project kick-off, construction
and completion) in batches. Subject to electric power grid
companies’ internal management procedures, the signing of
contracts and completion of project inspection tend to be
conducted in the fourth quarter each year. Accordingly, more
of our revenue is recognised in the same period. As such, our
results of operation have exhibited high seasonality.

In this respect, the Group will proactively communicate and
cooperate with electric power grid companies, so as to
increase visibility of our business operation. Meanwhile, the
Group will also explore new customers and business areas for
the purpose of smoothing seasonality of our business and
results of operation.
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Costs in R&D activities

The Group has been focusing on technological and business
innovation, and making consistent major investments in R&D
activities each year. With heavy investment in innovation, the
Group has been developing new product and service offerings,
which provide sound and solid ground for the continuous
development of the Group. Nevertheless, if our continuous
investments in R&D do not commercialise in the short term
and the economic benefits arising from relevant products
and/or services do not cover the underlying investments, the
Group’s results of operation and profitability may be adversely
affected.

In this respect, the Group will keep abreast the latest
developments in technology and the industry, so as to
maintain its leading position in industry technology, while not
making excessive R&D. By enhancing our study in industrial
policies and trends in new technology development, the
Group seeks to increase the success rate of R&D activities and
mitigating the uncertainties and risks associated with business
innovation.

Impairment of trade receivables

Along with the ongoing expansion of the Group’s business, our
revenue and trade receivables increased quickly. Our major
customers, electric power grid companies and relevant
enterprises, all have solid financial ground and sound
creditability, which provide reliable basis for the recovery of
our trade receivables. Nevertheless, the fast rise in trade
receivables does have notable impacts on our cash positions
and increase our demand for working capital investments.
With continuing development of the Group’s business, trade
receivables may further increase. If our trade receivables
could not be collected in time or at all, which leads to bad
debt, the Group would face the risk of working capital
shortage.

In this respect, the Group will keep close monitoring of trade
receivables and strengthen communication with customers in
relation to settlement, so as to facilitate timely collection of
trade receivables.

Retaining of quality staff

The Group’s success fundamentally depends on its high-
calibre staff. The increase in industry competition will
inevitably make the pursuit of staff increasingly fierce. If the
Group loses core members of its management and/or
technical staff and it cannot make timely and appropriate
replacement, the Group’s results of operation and profitability
may be adversely affected.

In this respect, the Group aims to provide competitive salaries,
welfare and incentive packages and establish a fair and
competitive promotion system, so that its staff can enjoy both
favourable short-term economic benefits, and share their
long-term career pursuit with the development of the Group.
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Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance best suited to the needs and interests
of the Group as it believes that an effective corporate
governance framework is fundamental to promoting
and safeguarding the interests of shareholders and other
stakeholders and enhancing shareholder value. Accordingly,
the Company has adopted and applied corporate governance
principles as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1l to the Listing
Rules and practices that emphasise a quality Board, effective
risk management and internal controls systems, stringent
disclosure practices, transparency and accountability. It is,
in addition, committed to continuously improving these
practices and inculcating an ethical corporate culture.

The Company complied with all code provisions of the CG
Code throughout the Year.

THE BOARD

Corporate strategy

The strategy of the Group is to deliver sustainable returns
with solid financial fundamentals, so as to enhance long-
term total return for shareholders. Please refer to the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis for discussions and analyses of the performance of
the Group and the basis on which the Group generates or
preserves value over the longer term and the basis on which
the Group will execute its strategy for delivering the
objective of the Group.

Corporate Governance Culture and Purpose

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term
objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes that
Shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term and
that its employees, those with whom it does business and
the communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs
with a view to ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board
is committed to maintaining and developing robust
corporate governance practices that are intended to ensure:

- satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company
are safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to
the satisfaction of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

27

BraRERTA

Aoy TR A R A A TG G 2 1 e K R
W 2 SR At 1) 2 A )\ - 2 B T A R
BRI SEAER, PRI EU ) I BURAR FF ol
EAE I A B R AR AT B
Bh, AR SR KB BT R AR S B
oz AFEERTRI (TERTRI D28 iR
JRR R R, SEREAT A EAIERE .
A7 R0 R R B R TN S B AR A R R
gL, LR RBRE KRR, BAh, A
NFAANEEAZEE R, R mE R A
E i

AR, AN SIS E R TR PTA
AU

HEE

AL

A SR [95 0) BRS AR At ) VA 5 2 i 6 J T
FRAR00 1, 8T R R A T IR R 2 48 (el
W B A& RE KRB AR
FE BRI R (A 2 e, DA AR
[ AT s DL Rl H AR 2 R, GE 20
R B PG SR A

AFREXMERE

D E)V B TR L R 4% R e TE T AR Y i
7. BRBLTERNGES, MR TTERLE
WIEAR, WZHVIRRIER. &R AR
T HIBIERE, A FMEBCRI M E
RN TSR, HET. B
SEBAL AN BB FLA 8 BT AE 1R AL 158 #R5RE

337, 22
o

N R R R A B e B
HPFLAREOR TT B, AR RE . SE &3
T HEER S RIS R A RNA B EE, B
FEHEDR

- TR BEHRAR R L AT R [
- B EETAIE M IR 5515 B ORER ;
- RN A R R SE B L

- SRR R e B R AR
K
- DREFEARYERETE,



Corporate Governance Report
TEEERWRS
Role of the Board

The Board, which is accountable to shareholders for the
long-term performance of the Company, is responsible for
directing and guiding the strategic objectives of the Company
and overseeing and monitoring managerial performance of
the business. Directors are charged with the task of
promoting the success of the Company and making decisions
in the best interests of the Company.

The Board, led by the Chairman (executive Director), Mr.
WANG Dongbin, determines and monitors group-wide
strategies and policies, annual budgets and business plans,
evaluates the performance of the Company, and supervises
the management of the Company (the “Management”).
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of
the Group under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer.

Board composition

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board comprised
seven Directors, including the Chairman, Mr. WANG Dongbin
(executive Director), the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. WU
Zhanjiang (executive Director), the Executive President, Mr.
WU Hongyuan (executive Director) and Mr. LI Kangying
(executive Director) and three Independent Non-executive
Directors (“INEDs”), namely, Mr. NG Kong Fat, Mr. HAN Bin
and Mr. WANG Peng.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which
recognises the benefits of a Board that possesses a balance of
skills, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of the
Group. Accordingly, the Board appointments have been, and
will continue to be, made based on merit that complements
and expands the skills, experience and expertise of the Board
as a whole, taking into account age, professional experience
and qualifications, cultural and educational background, and
any other factors that the Board might consider relevant and
applicable from time to time towards achieving a diverse
Board.

While the Board is currently a single gender board, the Board
believes that gender diversity is a representing manifestation
of board diversity. Accordingly, under the board diversity
policy, the Company sets the target of appointing at least one
director of different gender not later than 31 December 2024,
in order to achieve a female representation in the Board.
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The Board will continue to work to enhance gender
diversity. The Nomination committee will continue to use
its best efforts to identify and recommend suitable female
candidates to the Board for its consideration on
appointment of a Director. The Board will also ensure that
there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to
senior level so that the Company will continue to have a
pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to the Board in due time to ensure gender

diversity.

As at 31 March 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 80% male
and 20% female, which is regarded by the Board as
satisfactory and in line with the industry which the Group
operates its businesses in.

The Board diversity policy is available on the website of the
Company (www.oneforce.com.hk). The Board will review and
monitor from time to time the implementation of the policy
to ensure its effectiveness and application.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 6 to 8
and on the website of the Company. A list setting out the
names of the Directors and their roles and functions is
posted on the websites of the Company and HKEx. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, there is no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship among the
Directors, and in particular, between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the INEDs of
the Company and considers all of them to be independent
having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on
independence as required under the Listing Rules; (ii) the
absence of involvement in the day-to-day management of
the Company; and (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of
their independent judgement. Throughout the year ended 31
March 2024, the number of INEDs on the Board meets the

one-third requirement under the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, including but not limited to the compliance and
disclosures on the Listing Rules, accounting policies and
relevant regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for the functions set out in the
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. During the year ended
31 March 2024, the Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, the compliance
of the Model Code and Employees Written Guidelines, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report and the internal
control system of the Group.

Chairman and chief executive

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the role of the
Chairman was separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer. Such division of responsibilities reinforced the
independence and accountability of these Directors.

The position of Chairman, held by Mr. WANG Dongbin, is
responsible for providing leadership to, and overseeing the
functioning of, the Board to ensure that it acts in the best
interests of the Group and that Board meetings are planned
and conducted effectively. The Chairman is responsible for
setting the agenda for each Board meeting, taking into
account, where appropriate, matters proposed by Directors
and the Company Secretary. With the support of the
executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues discussed at Board meetings and provided
with adequate and accurate information in a timely manner.
The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and actively
encourages Directors to voice their opinion and be fully
engaged in the affairs of the Board so as to contribute to the
effective functioning of the Board. The Board, under the
leadership of the Chairman, has adopted sound corporate
governance practices and procedures and taken appropriate
steps to promote effective communication and ongoing
engagement with shareholders and other stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the position of Chief
Executive Officer, held by Mr. WU Zhanjiang, was
responsible for managing the businesses of the Group,
attending to the formulation and successful implementation
of Group policies and assuming full accountability to the
Board for all Group operations.
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Acting as the principal manager of the businesses of the Group, the
Chief Executive Officer attends to developing strategic operating
plans that reflect the long-term objectives and priorities
established by the Board and is directly responsible for maintaining
the operational performance of the Group. Working with the Chief
Financial Officer and the Management, the Chief Executive Officer
presents annual budgets to the Board for consideration and
approval, and ensures that the Board is fully apprised of the
funding requirements of the businesses of the Group. With the
assistance of the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Executive Officer
sees to it that the funding requirements of the businesses are met
and closely monitors the operating and financial performance of
the businesses against plans and budgets, taking remedial action if
necessary. He maintains an ongoing dialogue with the Chairman
and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all major business
development and issues. He is also responsible for building and
maintaining an effective executive management team to support
him in his role.

Board process

In accordance with relevant requirements under the Articles of
Association and the Listing Rules, the Board will meet regularly,
and at least four times a year with meeting dates scheduled prior
to the beginning of the relevant year. Between scheduled
meetings, senior management of the Group provides to Directors,
on a regular basis, quarterly updates and other information with
respect to the performance, and business activities and
development of the Group. Throughout the year ended 31 March
2024, Directors have participated in the deliberation and approval
of routine and operational matters of the Company by way of
written resolutions and/or meetings with supporting explanatory
materials, supplemented by additional verbal and/or written
information from the Company Secretary or other executives, if
any, and as and when required. Details of material or notable
transactions of subsidiaries are provided to the Directors as
appropriate. Whenever warranted, additional Board meetings are
held. In addition, all Directors have full and timely access to all
the information on the Group and may seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense at all times
whenever deemed necessary by the Directors and they are at
liberty to propose appropriate matters for inclusion in Board
agendas. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting
of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent views and judgement on corporate actions
and operations. The Board annually reviews the implementation
and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input available to the Board and the Board is of the view that
such independent mechanism is effective.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, Directors receive
written notice of the meeting generally about 14 days in advance
and an agenda with supporting Board papers no less than three
days prior to the meeting. For other meetings, if any, Directors are
given as much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the
circumstances. Except for those circumstances permitted by the
Articles of Association and the Listing Rules, a Director would
abstain from voting on resolutions approving any contract,
transaction, arrangement in which he or she or any of his or her
close associates is materially interested in, and such Director is not
counted for quorum determination purposes.
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The Company held four Board meetings during the year ended
31 March 2024 and held one annual general meeting on 15
September 2023 with overall attendance of 100%. The
attendance record is set out below:

A AR A 202443 H 31 H IR B N ERAT DY I
HHE G LR 20234E9 ] 15 H AT R T IE
R, EFAERE R 4100% . HE LB
EiRZlE I

Board meetings

Executive Directors BITEE

WANG Dongbin (Chairman) EHK (EED
WU Zhanjiang SRRV

WU Hongyuan eyt

LI Kangying Zhrs

INEDs BIUEPITESR
NG Kong Fat Rt E%

HAN Bin FEM

WANG Peng BRI

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Chairman had
regular meetings with executive Directors and met with INEDs
without the presence of executive Directors. The INEDs freely
provided their independent views to the Board.

Any Director who is appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company, or in the case of an additional
appointment, until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment, and shall be eligible for re-
election at the relevant meeting. All Directors are subject to
retirement from office by rotation and re-election by
shareholders at annual general meetings at least about once
every three years. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election
and re-election of retiring Directors at general meetings is
dealt with by separate individual resolutions. In addition, each
of the INEDs entered into a letter of appointment for an initial
term ending on 31 March of the year of their appointments
which contracts are automatically renewed for successive 12-
month periods, subject to re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association.
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HHEggR 2023 AGM
HERE i
EEBME 2023 FFRRE
R BEAE
4/4 v
4/4 v
4/4 v
4/4 v
4/4 v
4/4 v
4/4 v
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No Director has a service contract with the Company which is
not terminable by the Company within one year and without
payment of compensation (other than  statutory
compensation).

Shareholders may propose a candidate for election as Director
in accordance with the Articles of Association. The procedures
for such proposal are posted on the website of the Company.

Training and commitment

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors will receive a
package of orientation materials on the Group and are
provided with a comprehensive induction to the businesses of
the Group by the Management.

The Company arranges and provides Continuous Professional
Development (“CPD”) training such as seminars and relevant
reading materials to Directors to ensure that they are apprised
of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory
environment in which the Group conducts its businesses and
to refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions
and duties of a listed company director. In addition,
attendance at external forums or briefing sessions (including
delivery of speeches) on the relevant topics also counts
toward CPD training.
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The Directors are required to provide the Company with
details of the CPD training undertaken by them from time to
time. Based on the details so provided, the CPD training
undertaken by the Directors as of 31 March 2024 is
summarised as follows:

HH AR AR S SR S i1 H R A e
JEIEAEHFEA A R . IR FHREN ZoR, & 3
HRE 20243 31 HIEAT R 2L 5 R i
MR U :

Professional Areas

BEH
Group Business/
Legal and Corporate  Directors’ Duties
Regulatory Governance CLES
AR SR EER HEWE
Executive Directors WiTES

WANG Dongbin (Chairman) T 5k (F/F) v v v
WU Zhanjiang S BRI v v 4
WU Hongyuan SRt 4 4 v/
LI Kangying 2R 4 4 v/

INEDs BALAEPITES
NG Kong Fat St dk 4 4 4
HAN Bin Y 4 v v/
WANG Peng T 4 4 v

During the year ended 31 March 2024, all Directors have
complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code to
participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills by attending
seminars, in-house briefings or reading materials.

All Directors have confirmed that they have given sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Group. In addition,
Directors disclose to the Company in a timely manner their
other commitments, if any, such as directorships in other
public companies and major appointments as well as update
the Company on any subsequent changes.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business

environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
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Directors’ securities transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. In response to
specific enquiries made, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code in their securities transactions
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Board committees

The Board is supported by three permanent board
committees: the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, details of which
are described below in this report. The terms of reference for
these Committees, which have been adopted by the Board,
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. Other board committees are established by the
Board as and when warranted to take charge of specific tasks.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for
ensuring that Board procedures are followed and Board
activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. These
objectives are achieved through adherence to proper Board
processes and timely preparation of and dissemination to
Directors comprehensive Board meeting agendas and papers.
Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Board Committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and
decisions reached by the Board or Board Committees,
including any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced by
any Director. All draft and final minutes of Board meetings and
meetings of Board Committees are sent to Directors or Board
Committee members as appropriate for comments, approval
and records. Board records are available for inspection by any
Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments of relevance to the
Group and that it takes these developments into
consideration when making decisions for the Group. From
time to time, she organises seminars on specific topics of
importance and interest and disseminates reference materials
to Directors for their information.
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The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the
compliance of the Group with all obligations of the Listing
Rules and Takeovers Code, including the preparation,
publication and despatch of annual reports and interim
reports within the time limits laid down in the Listing Rules,
the timely dissemination to shareholders and the market of
information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on
connected transactions, notifiable transactions, price
sensitive/inside information and Directors’ obligation for
disclosure of interests and dealings in securities of the
Company, to ensure that the standards and disclosures
requirements under the Listing Rules and applicable laws,
rules and regulations are complied with and, where required,
reported in the interim and annual reports of the Company.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval. Whilst the Company Secretary
reports to the Chairman, all members of the Board have

access to the advice and service of the Company Secretary. Ms.

HUI Yin Shan (“Ms. HUI”) has been appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company since 30 October 2020. Ms. HUI is
the nominee of the external professional service provider
appointed to act as the Company Secretary of the Company in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The appointment of Ms.
HUI as a Company Secretary of the Company during the
relevant period has been nominated by Tricor Services Limited
under an engagement letter entered into between the
Company and Tricor Services Limited. Ms. HUI has attended
over 15 hours’ relevant seminars during the year ended 31
March 2024 pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The primary contact person at the Company is Mr. WANG
Dongbin, Chairman and executive Director of the Company.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The annual and interim results of the Company are published
in a timely manner, within three months and two months
respectively of the year end and the half-year end.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the financial
statements is set out below. This should be read in
conjunction with but distinguished from, the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 75 to 83 which acknowledges the
reporting responsibility of the auditor of the Group.

Annual report and financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of this annual report and financial statements of
the Company, ensuring that the financial statements give a
true and fair presentation in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently adopted and made judgements
and estimates that are reasonable in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose the financial position
of Group upon which financial statements of the Group could
be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies of the
Group.

Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within the
Group.
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Going concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are of the
view that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for
this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs who possess the
relevant business and financial management experience and
skills to understand financial statements and contribute to the
financial governance, internal controls and risk management
of the Company. It is chaired by Mr. NG Kong Fat with Mr.
HAN Bin and Mr. WANG Peng as members.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee
held two meetings with 100% attendance, where each of Mr.
NG Kong Fat, Mr. HAN Bin and Mr. WANG Peng attended all
the meeting.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit
Committee had met with the executive Directors and
management of the Company to review the interim and
annual results, the interim report and annual report and other
financial, internal control, corporate governance and risk
management matters of the Group and made
recommendations to the Board. The Audit Committee had
met with the external auditor without the presence of
management and discussed about the interim financial report,
its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements and
key audit issues.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required
to monitor the relationship between the Company and its
external auditor, review the preliminary interim and annual
results, and interim and annual financial statements of the
Group, develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance including compliance with
statutory and Listing Rules requirements, review the scope,
extent and effectiveness of the activities of internal audit,
engage independent legal and other advisers and conduct
investigations as it determines to be necessary.
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The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a
high degree of transparency, probity and accountability. In
line with this commitment, the Company expects and
encourages employees of the Group and those who deal with
the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) to
report to the Company any suspected impropriety,
misconduct or malpractice concerning the Group. In this
regard, the Company has adopted procedures for Reporting
Possible Improprieties in Matters of Financial Reporting,
Internal Control or Other Matters, which is posted on the
website of the Company.

The Audit Committee meets with the Chief Financial Officer
and the Management from time to time for purposes of
reviewing the interim and final results, the interim and annual
reports, and other financial, internal control, corporate
governance and risk management matters of the Group. It
considers and discusses the reports and presentations of
Management, the internal and external auditors of the Group,
with a view to ensuring that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with IFRS
and the applicable disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). It also
meets at least two times a year with the external auditor of
the Group, KPMG, to consider the reports of KPMG on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of its independent
review of the interim financial report and annual audit of the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Audit
Committee holds regular private meetings with the external
auditor, the Chief Financial Officer and internal auditor
separately without the presence of executive Directors.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in maintaining
effective risk management and internal control systems. It
reviews the process by which the Group evaluates its control
environment and risk assessment process, and the way in
which business and control risks are managed. It receives and
considers the presentations of Management in relation to the
reviews on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff in the
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions of
the Group, as well as their training programmes and budgets.
In addition, the Audit Committee reviews in conjunction with
the Group’s internal auditor the work plans for its audits
together with its resource requirements and considers the
internal audit reports to the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
in the business operations of the Group. Further, it receives
the reports from the Company Secretary on the material
litigation proceedings, if any, and compliance status of the
Group on regulatory requirements. These reviews and reports
are taken into consideration by the Audit Committee when it
makes its recommendation to the Board for approval of the
consolidated financial statements for the year.
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External auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the external
auditor’s independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the
audit process. Each year, the Audit Committee receives a
letter from the external auditor confirming its independence
and objectivity. It holds meetings with representatives of the
external auditor to consider the scope of its audit, approve its
fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit services,
if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
retention of the external auditor.

The policy of the Group regarding the engagement of its
external auditor for the various services listed below is as
follows:

e Audit services — include audit services provided in
connection with the audit of the consolidated financial
statements. All such services are to be provided by the
external auditor.

e Audit related services — include services that would
normally be provided by an external auditor but not
generally included in audit fees, for example, accounting
advice related to mergers and acquisitions, internal control
reviews of systems and/or processes, and issuance of
special audit reports for tax or other purposes. The
external auditor is to be invited to undertake those
services that must be undertaken, or is otherwise best
placed, to undertake in its capacity as auditor.

e Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and
tax planning services, except for those services which are
provided in connection with the audit. The Group engages
the services of the external auditor where it is best suited.
All other significant taxation related work is undertaken by
other parties as appropriate.

e Other services — include, for example, financial due
diligence, review of actuarial reports and calculations, risk
management diagnostics and assessments, and non-
financial system consultations. The external auditor is also
permitted to assist Management and the internal auditor
with internal investigations and fact-finding into alleged
improprieties. These services are subject to specific
approval by the Audit Committee.

e General consulting services — the external auditor is not

eligible to provide services involving general consulting
work.

External auditor’s remuneration

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total fees to KPMG
amounted to approximately RMB2,770,000 and are all for
audit services.
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RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND LEGAL &
REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

Role of the Board

The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of risk
management, internal control and legal and regulatory
compliance of the Group. In particular, the Board is
responsible for overseeing the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company, to identify and manage the risks faced by the Group,
as well as to ensure the Shareholders’ interests and the
Company’s assets are properly safeguarded.

In meeting its responsibilities, the Board seeks to inculcate risk
awareness across the business operations of the Group and
has put in place policies and procedures, including parameters
of delegated authority, which provide a framework for the
identification and management of risks. The Board evaluates
and determines the nature and extent of risks that the
Company is willing to accept in pursuit of the strategic and
business objectives of the Group. It also reviews and monitors
the effectiveness of the systems of risk management and
internal control on an ongoing basis at least annually.
Reporting and review processes include review by the
executive Directors and the Board and approval of detailed
operational and financial reports, budgets and plans provided
by management of the business operations, review by the
Board of actual results against budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of internal audit and risk
management functions, as well as regular business reviews by
the executive Directors and the executive management team.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee regularly reviews
the corporate governance structure and practices within the
Group and monitors compliance fulfillment on an ongoing
basis. The Audit Committee is satisfied that the Company
complied with all code provisions of the CG Code throughout
the year.

These procedures are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable (and not absolute) assurance
against material misstatement, errors, losses, fraud or non-
compliance.
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Risk management

Based on the COSO (the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission) model, the
Company establishes its Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)
framework to support the delivery of the Group’s business
and strategic objectives. The framework facilitates a
systematic approach in identifying, assessing and managing
risks within the Group, be they of strategic, financial,
operational or compliance nature.

The Group’s risk management is a continuous process
integrated seamlessly into the day-to-day activities at all levels
of the Group companies. There is ongoing communication
between the executive management of the Group and the
business units on the current and emerging risks, their
potential impact and mitigation measures so as to institute
additional controls and deploy appropriate insurance
instruments to minimise or transfer the impact of risks to the
Group’s business. In addition, the Group’s Directors and
officers are protected against potential personal legal

liabilities through the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance.

In terms of formal risk review and reporting, the Company
adopts a “top-down and bottom-up” approach, involving input
from each major business unit as well as discussions and
reviews by the executive Directors. More specifically, on a
quarterly basis, each major business unit is responsible for
formally identifying the significant risks their business faces,
measuring them against a defined set of criteria, and
considering likelihood of occurrence and potential impact to
the business, whilst the executive Directors provide input after
taking a holistic assessment of all the significant risks that the
Group faces. Relevant risk information including key
mitigation measures and plans are recorded in a risk register
to facilitate the ongoing review and tracking of progress.

The composite Register, as part of the Risk Management
Report, is submitted to the Audit Committee for review on a
half-yearly basis. The Committee, on behalf of the Board,
reviews the nature and extent of the significant risks facing
the Group, and provides input as and where appropriate so as
to ensure effective risk management in place.

Pages 25 to 27 of this annual report provide a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group which could
affect the financial condition or results of operations of the

Group that differ materially from expected or historical results.
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Internal control environment

Executive directors are appointed to the board of the
operating subsidiaries of the Group for monitoring the
companies, including attendance at board meetings, review
and approval of budgets and plans, and business strategies,
with associated risks identified and setting of key business
performance targets. The executive management team of
each business unit is accountable for the conduct and
performance of their business within the agreed scope of
strategies. The executive Directors monitor the performance
and reviews the risk profiles of the Group companies on an
on-going basis.

The internal control procedures of the Group include a
comprehensive system for reporting information to the
executive management team of each business unit and the
executive Directors.

Business plans and budgets are prepared annually by
management of individual businesses and subject to review
and approval by both the executive management teams and
the executive Directors as part of the annual corporate
planning cycle. The annual budget is reviewed on a quarterly
basis to identify major variances and propose rectifications
measures. When setting budgets, the management identifies,
evaluates and reports on the likelihood and potential financial
impact of significant business risks.

The executive Directors review monthly management reports
on the financial results and key operating statistics of each
business and holds monthly meetings with senior
management of business operations to review these reports,
business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant
business risk sensitivities and strategies. In addition, the Chief
Financial Officer and finance managers of the business
operations have monthly meetings to review monthly
performance against budget and forecast, and to address
accounting and finance related matters.

The Group maintains a centralised cash management system
for its subsidiary operations and the finance department
oversees the investment and lending activities of the Group.
Treasury reports on cash and liquid investments, borrowings
and movements thereof are distributed monthly.
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The Group has established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures. Operating expenditures
are subject to overall budget control and are controlled within
each business with approval levels set by reference to the
level of responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital
expenditures are subject to overall control within the annual
budget review and approval process, and more specific
control and approval prior to commitment by the executive
Directors are required for unbudgeted expenditures and
material expenditures within the approved budget. Quarterly
reports of actual versus budgeted and approved expenditures
are also reviewed.

In terms of formal review of the internal control system of the
Group, an internal control self-assessment process is in place,
requiring senior management of each major business unit to
review, evaluate and report on the effectiveness of the
internal controls over the operations and devise action plans
to address the issues, if any. These assessment results,
together with the Risk Management Report as mentioned
above and the independent assessments by the auditors, form
part of the bases on which the Audit Committee formulate its
opinion on the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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Legal and regulatory compliance

The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are
operated in compliance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The investor relations and compliance
department has the responsibility of safeguarding the legal
interests of the Group. It monitors the day-to-day legal affairs
of the Group, including preparing, reviewing and approving all
legal and corporate secretarial documentation of Group
companies, working in conjunction with finance, corporate
secretarial and business unit personnel on the review and co-
ordination process, and advising the Management of legal and
commercial issues of concern. In addition, the investor
relations and compliance department is responsible for
overseeing regulatory compliance matters of all Group
companies. It analyses and monitors the regulatory
frameworks within which the Group operates, including
reviewing applicable laws and regulations and preparing and
submitting response or filings with relevant regulatory and/or

government authorities on regulatory issues and consultations.

In addition, the department prepares and updates internal
policies and conducts tailor-made training sessions where
necessary so as to strengthen the internal controls and
compliance procedures of the Group.

The investor relations and compliance department reports to
the Board on all material legal, regulatory and corporate
secretarial matters and it proposes to the Board for the
engagement of external legal advisors, ensuring the requisite
professional standards are adhered to as well as the most cost
effective services are rendered. Further, investor relations and
compliance department organises and holds continuing
education seminars/conferences on legal and regulatory
matters of relevance to the Group for Directors and the
Management.

On the listed company level, the Group is subject to the Listing
Rules, the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-
backs, the Cayman Islands Companies Act, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
SFO. The investor relations and compliance department stays
alert to the legal requirements under these statutes, rules and
regulations.
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Code of ethics and handling of inside information

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal
and professional standards of the Directors and employees of
the Group. In addition to the various policies adopted and
implemented by the Group imposing requirements on
Directors and employees to conduct themselves in compliance
with applicable laws, rules and regulations, every employee is
required to undertake to adhere to the Code of Ethics, and is
expected to meet the highest standards of behaviour including
avoiding conflict of interest, discrimination or harassment and
bribery and corruption. Employees are required to report any
non-compliance with the Code of Ethics to the Management.

With a view to identifying, handling and disseminating inside
information in compliance with the SFO, additional
procedures, including

e pre-clearance on dealing in the securities of the Company
by designated members of Management,

e notification of regular blackout period and securities
dealing restrictions to relevant Directors and employees,
and

* identification of project by code name and dissemination
of information to stated purpose and on a need-to-know

basis,

have also been implemented by the Group to guard against
possible mishandling of inside information within the Group.
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Internal audit

The internal auditor, who reports directly to the Audit
Committee, provides independent assurance as to the
existence and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal controls systems in the business operations of the
Group. By applying risk assessment methodology and taking
into account the dynamics of the activities of the Group,
internal audit devises its annual audit plan which is reviewed
by the Audit Committee, and continually reassessed during
the year to ensure that adequate resources are deployed and
the objectives of the plan are met. Internal audit is responsible
for assessing the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, including reviewing the continuing
connected transactions of the Company and whether
adequate internal control procedures are in place to monitor
such transactions, formulating an impartial opinion on the
systems, and reporting its findings to the Audit Committee,
the executive Directors and the Management concerned as
well as following up on the issues to ensure that they are
satisfactorily resolved. In addition, internal audit maintains a
regular dialogue with the external auditor so that the parties
are aware of the significant factors which may affect their
respective scope of work.

Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure of
individual business units, the scope of work performed by
internal audit includes finance, IT, operations and regulatory
compliance reviews, recurring and surprise audits, fraud
investigations, as well as productivity efficiency reviews.

Reports from the external auditor on internal controls and
relevant financial reporting matters are presented to the
internal auditor and, as appropriate, to the Chief Financial
Officer. These reports are reviewed and appropriate actions
are taken.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and is satisfied that such
systems are effective and adequate. In addition, it has
reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the staff of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions of the Group,
and their training programmes and budgets.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Remuneration Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Remuneration
Committee comprised three members with expertise in
management and remuneration packages. The Committee
was chaired by Mr. HAN Bin (as INED), with Mr. WANG
Dongbin (as executive Director) and Mr. NG Kong Fat (as INED)
as members.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors; and
develop the Group’s policy on remuneration for its Directors
(including executive Directors) so as to ensure that it attracts
and retains the Directors needed to manage the Company and
the Group effectively. Directors do not participate in decisions
regarding their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee assists the Group in the
administration of a fair and transparent procedure for setting
remuneration policies for all Directors and senior
management of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings with 100% attendance, where
each of Mr. HAN Bin, Mr. WANG Dongbin and Mr. NG Kong
Fat attended all the meetings.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed background information on market data
(including  economic indicators, statistics and the
Remuneration Bulletin), the business activities and human
resources issues, and headcount and staff costs of the Group.
It reviewed and considered the annual directors’ emoluments
for executive Directors and directors’ fee for each of the INEDs
and made recommendation to the Board. Prior to the year
end, the Committee reviewed and approved the year end
bonus and remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and senior executives of the Group for the coming year. The
executive Directors did not participate in the determination of
his own remuneration.
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Remuneration policy

The remuneration of Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to their expertise and experience
in the industry, the performance and profitability of the Group
as well as remuneration benchmarks from other comparable
companies and prevailing market conditions. Directors and
employees also participate in bonus arrangements which are
determined in line with the performance of the Group and the
individual’s performance.

Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration

Details of emoluments paid to each Director for the year
ended 31 March 2024 are set out below:

R

RIS A B IR T R R R
R, LA G FRBAMEA], PLESHEH
AT L 23 =] (8 B A R B AT T S i DU e . K
R B TR 2 B P ACHE [ % A N\ 3 B 7 A
KL

HEERREEARHMH

R A 20244F3 31 H R 4R B SOAT T % H S 1T
ERFEIT

Director’s Basic salaries, Retirement Total

fees allowances scheme Emoluments
and BIK contributions

EHHS XS, RO GBI A

RERRMA S

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARBTT ARETR

Executive Directors WiTES

WANG Dongbin B0

WU Hongyuan S vt

LI Kangying AP

WU Zhanjiang ST

INEDs BLIEHUTESR
NG Kong Fat St

HAN Bin A

WANG Peng B

The remuneration to the members of senior management by
bands for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

326 470 58 854
109 736 64 909
326 450 - 776
109 670 58 837
109 - - 109
109 - - 109
109 - - 109

A E2024FE3H31H ILESE, SPEHE AN AR
BN A0 FE s s R

Number of Individuals

Remuneration Bands T 4= % (] ANB
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) nil to HKD1,000,000 ZE#:7¢ ( [#7t] D) % 1,000,000 ¥#C 3
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 #5JC % 1,500,000 #5570 1
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, one of
whom is an executive Director, namely Mr. WANG Dongbin (as
executive Director) (chairman of the Nomination Committee)
and the other two members are Mr. HAN Bin (as INED) and Mr.
WANG Peng (as INED).

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the
independence of the INEDs; and (iii) making recommendations
to the Board on matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

The nomination policy sets out the relevant selection criteria
and nomination procedures.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
following factors would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee, including but not limited to:

(a) reputation for integrity and accomplishment and
experience in the financial services industry, in particular,
in the securities, commodities and futures markets;

(b) commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

(c) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background and
ethnicity.

When a vacancy arises under any circumstance, the
Nomination Committee, upon consultation with the Board,
will determine the selection criteria and select candidates with
the appropriate expertise and experience for the position in
such circumstance. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation. A circular setting out information as
required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
of the proposed candidates will be dispatched to the
shareholders. The Board shall have the final decision on all
matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand
for election at any general meeting. The candidates are
assessed based on objective criteria approved by the Board
such as integrity, independent mindedness, possession of the
relevant skills, ability to commit the time and effort to carry
out his/her responsibilities.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out, among others, a number of aspects of board diversity in
reviewing and accessing the board composition and
nomination of Directors, as applicable.

In assessing the optimum composition of the Board, the
Nominating Committee would take into account various
aspects set out in its terms of reference and the board
diversity policy of the Company, including but not limited to
skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, as well as the existing and
future strategic needs of the Company.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of
differences in the skills, region and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors.
These differences will be taken into account in determining
the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on merit while taking into account
diversity. The Nomination Committee will report annually (if
necessary) in the corporate governance report, on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of this policy.

The Board comprises balanced and well diversified members
of different age, cultural background and ethnicity. They
provide the Board with the necessary experience and
expertise to direct and lead the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings with 100% attendance, where
each of Mr. WANG Dongbin, Mr. HAN Bin and Mr. WANG Peng
attended all the meetings.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination
Committee members (i) reviewed and considered that the
structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board are
appropriate; (ii) assessed the independence of INEDs; and (iii)
recommended the re-appointments of Directors.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of the Founding Shareholders gave a non-competition
undertaking in favour of the Company (the “Non-competition
Undertaking”). Each of the Founding Shareholders has
undertaken under the Non-competition Undertaking that it/he
shall provide the Company and the Directors from time to
time (including the INEDs) with all information necessary for
the annual review by the INEDs with regard to compliance
with the terms of the Non-competition Undertaking by the
Founding Shareholders and the enforcement of the Non-
competition Undertaking. Each of the Founding Shareholders
has confirmed compliance with the terms of the Non-
competition Undertaking and that during the year under
review, there was no matter which required to be deliberated
by the Board in relation to the compliance with and
enforcement of the Non-competition Undertaking. The Board
comprising all the INEDs is of the view that such Founding
Shareholders have been in compliance with the Non-
competition Undertaking in favour of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board considers proper returns to shareholders to be one
of the main objectives. Stable dividend payment to
shareholders is a primary objective of the Company. The basic
policy is to pay interim and final dividends in each financial
year.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Board’s
discretion, where the Board takes various factors into account
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends,
including but not limited to:

- liquidity position of the Company;

- shareholders’ interests;

- financial results;

- capital requirements; and

- general business conditions and strategies.

The Board will not declare any dividend(s) where:

- there are reasonable grounds for believing that the
Company is or would be, after a dividend payment,
unable to pay its liabilities or discharge its obligations as
and when they become due;

- pursuant to the dividend decision date, the Company is
insolvent or bankrupt or where, as a result of paying
dividends, the Company would be rendered insolvent or

bankrupt; or

- there is any other case set forth by any law.

52

i B BUR

EHE®
[N
B

¥

Ry RRMCR A E R — K H
A IR 2 H AR MR IR R B
B B BEIRAT T 3 RIS

&> B

HR T IS E EIRIE, 75 IR SRS
R gHEELZIHIE, WFEARR:

- RREIRRENE AR

- R

- WEERS

- HE®R K

- BRBETHINI R A
RTIIED, EHEEHATIRMEMBE

- AEHEBEEBME, AR Bk EH R AR
AR e A% R BE S BTG S A & i BB AT B
£

- REEEBCEH, A F M AR B E
A2 ) RLYR A MR T 5 48 g £ A B
s B

- ARMEEETE AR T AR



Corporate Governance Report
EEERWS

RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group actively promoted investor relations and
communication with the investment community throughout the
year. The Group is committed to enhancing investor engagement
and communications. Through the Chief Executive Officer, the
Chief Financial Officer, the Investor Relations Department and the
Corporate Secretarial team, the Group responded to requests for
information and queries from the investment community including
shareholders, analysts and the media through regular briefings,
announcements, conference calls and presentations. A policy on
shareholders’ communication, which is available on the website of
the Company, has been adopted and is subject to regular review by
the Board to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the
prevailing regulatory and other requirements. The Board has
conducted an annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of such shareholders’ communication policy of the
Company, and concluded that the policy was implemented
effectively to provide shareholders and investing public with easy
and timely access to the latest development of the Group during
the year. The Board will continuously review its existing channels
of communication with Shareholders and investors to ensure that
they remain effective.

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information on
the Group to shareholders through the publication of notices,
announcements, circulars, and interim and annual reports. The
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company are

published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Moreover, additional information on the Group is available to
shareholders and stakeholders through the Investor Relations page
on the website of the Company.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the
Company. Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, any
shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company has statutory rights to call for extraordinary general
meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration by
shareholders, by sending the Board or the Company Secretary at
the principal place of business a written request for such general
meetings, signed by the shareholders concerned together with the
proposed agenda items and such meeting shall be held within two
months of the deposit of such requisition.

All substantive resolutions at general meetings are decided on a
poll which is conducted by the Company Secretary and scrutinised
by the Hong Kong Share Registrar of the Company. The results of
the poll are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. In addition, regular updated financial, business
and other information on the Group is made available on the
website of the Company for shareholders and stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company convened one
general meeting. Separate resolutions were proposed at the
respective general meeting on each substantive issue, and the
percentage of votes cast in favour of such resolutions was
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 15
September 2023. All resolutions put to shareholders at such annual
general meeting were passed. The results of the voting by poll
were published on the websites of the Company and HKEx.
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The Company amended its Articles of Association on 15
September 2023. Save for such amendment, during the year
under review, the Company did not make any changes to its
Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the Articles of
Association is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Other corporate information relating to the Company is set
out in the “Corporate Information — Investor Calendar” section
of this annual report. This includes, among others, dates for
key corporate events for 2024.

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to
promote transparency and foster investor relations. Enquiries,
comments and suggestions to the Board or the Company are
welcome and can be addressed to the Investor Relations
Manager or the Company Secretary by mail to

5/F, Manulife Place
348 Kwun Tong Road
Hong Kong

or by e-mail at

renzhi.zhou@oneforce.com.cn

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its
businesses and the communities in which it conducts business.
It has adopted a proactive approach to environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) responsibility and has established a
working group comprising representatives from key
departments of the Company to promote the ESG initiatives
and activities of the Group and continually enhance the
Group’s ESG efforts. The environmental and social matters of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out in the
Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report 2024, which has also been published on the website of
the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to submit to the shareholders their
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

As an information technology service provider, the Group is
dedicated to relevant technical research and application in
power information technology and smart city loT, providing
tailor-made software and solutions, technical services and
hardware products to various types of energy companies,
government and corporate customers.

The principal activities of the Group during the year ended 31
March 2024 are set out on pages 144 to 145 of this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required under
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), comprising a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year, a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2024, as well as an
indication of likely future development in the business of the
Group, are provided in the following sections:

e “Financial Review” on page 15.

e “Chairman’s Statement”, “Business Review”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Group Capital
Resources and Liquidity” and “Key Financial Information”
on pages 9 to 25.

e “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” on pages 25 to 27.

e “Financial Risk Management” in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 163 to 167.

e “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 28 to 55.

e Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, an account of the Group’s key relationships
with its stakeholders and the Group’s compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant
impact on the Group are provided in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” which will be published in
July 2024.

All such discussions form part of this report.
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GROUP PROFIT

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 84 to 85. The financial
position of the Group and the Company at that date are set
out in the consolidated statement of financial position on
pages 86 to 87 and note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 168, respectively, in this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

RESERVES

The reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 88 and note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively. As at 31
March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders comprising share premium and retained loss,
amounted to approximately RMB141,282,000 (2023:
approximately RMB141,291,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not
make any donation to charitable organisations (2023: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

WANG Dongbin (Chairman)

WU Zhanjiang (Chief Executive Officer)
WU Hongyuan (Executive President)

LI Kangying

INEDs

NG Kong Fat
HAN Bin
WANG Peng

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Ng Kong Fat, Mr. Li Kangying and Mr. Wu Zhanjiang shall
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received written confirmation from all
INEDs regarding their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the INEDs to be
independent.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the “Directors
and Senior Management” section of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON
THE COMPANY

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, to the best of
their knowledge, information and belief, the Directors were
not aware of any non-compliance by the Company with any
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on
the Company.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles of Association provides that the Directors of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.
Directors liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors of
the Company or of its subsidiaries against any potential costs
and liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.
The relevant provisions in the Articles of Association and the
Directors liability insurance are in force during the year ended
31 March 2024 and as of the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance, to
which the Company, its ultimate holding company, any of its
fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or a connected entity of a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Year or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
March 2024.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors were interested in any business
apart from the Company’s business, which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries pursuant to Rule
8.10 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company had not entered into any connected transaction
during the year ended 31 March 2024 which was required to be
disclosed under the Listing Rules. Related party transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2024

are disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Board confirms that the Company has complied with the
applicable disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as
follows:

Interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

EHEBRATERA BRI MR
FRESZ B IR A

202493 H31H, AN F) H#HH KR =T
N B AR RN R s HAT A BA I e 28 0%
5 o B A 5 XV D) 2 4 < A R I M
TS5 A IR IR 38 25 SO &A1 S XV A 7
Je S84 iR T AR A | KRS Bt 2 R f
W CFGARE RS I B 15 2 5% 5514
M 2 U VE R S T 2 RE2E SR B, 8.
CLEF RO A AR A WAR B 5% 25 I ) £ #4451 28 352
WL A7 2 B e, BREAR HE < R 2 0
EA T LA T2 MRS SR R

AN A B A R ESR 2
BRB

AL 7] J 17 R o I 15 2 A

Approximate % of

Directors Capacity/Nature of interests Number of Shares held shareholding
Eiaiid:

#H St/ HEREE R BB EBE A E S

WANG Dongbin Interest of a controlled corporation 60,000,000(1) 11.91%

AR AR

LI Kangying Interest of a controlled corporation 60,000,000 11.91%

A AR

WU Zhanjiang Interest of a controlled corporation 60,000,0000) 11.91%

ST AR
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Notes:

1 These Shares were held by Smart East, which was wholly owned
by Mr. Wang Dongbin.

2 These Shares were held by Main Wealth, which was wholly
owned by Mr. Li Kangying.

3 These Shares were held by Union Sino, which was wholly owned

by Mr. Wu Zhanjiang.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2024, other than
the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive as disclosed in the section titled “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, the following persons had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange:

Interests and short positions of substantial shareholders in the
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

MR S BRI 28 T4 8 2 IORAE

mERE

SREE AR, A20244E3H31H, B ik
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Approximate % of

Name Capacity/Nature of interests Number of Shares held shareholding
Eiaiid:
L2 St/ R E AR A MAE T
Xiong Weigin Interest of spouse 60,000,000 11.91%
AT T fHME 2
An Ning Interest of spouse 60,000,000(2) 11.91%
2 T fHME 2
Zhang Jianhua Interest of spouse 60,000,000 11.91%
TR HE T fHME 2
Smart East Beneficial owner 60,000,00014) 11.91%
Hala A
Main Wealth Beneficial owner 60,000,000 11.91%
Hala A
Union Sino Beneficial owner 60,000,000(6) 11.91%
Hala A
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Number of Shares

Approximate %

Name Capacity/Nature of interests held of shareholding
B
®E S/ fEai FHERGEE MAE S
Long Eagle Beneficial owner 60,000,000(7) 11.91%
L gt 2PN
Toplight Management Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 60,000,000 11.91%
ZASVEEIRE A
Founder of a discretionary trust who
can influence how the trustees
Cao Mingda exercises its discretion 60,000,000(") 11.91%
HHERREEERAIG N, TLGE
ZAENTAE B RN 7 =0
Trident Trust Company (Cayman) Trustee 60,000,000 11.91%
Limited
] LR
Pang Zigian Interest of spouse 60,000,000@) 11.91%
REEEAE BCABRE 25
Chance Talent Beneficial owner 36,380,000 7.22%
L §iit) ZPN
CCBI Investments Interest of a controlled corporation 36,380,000 7.22%
LR
CCB International (Holdings) Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 36,380,000 7.22%
EIRERE (R HIRAF LR
CCB Financial Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 36,380,000 7.22%
AT SR PR A 7] LR
CCB International Group Interest of a controlled corporation 36,380,000 7.22%
Holdings Limited
AT B AR A A PR 7] AR A
China Construction Bank Corporation  Interest of a controlled corporation 36,380,000 7.22%
] R ERAT I A PR A 7 AR A
Central Huijin Investment Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 36,380,000 7.22%
e AR E AR HATR AT AR A
Great Attain International Limited Beneficial owner 124,191,177(10) 24.64%
EERPEA TR AT jegit ZEDN

Notes: B3«

1 Ms. Xiong Weiqin is the spouse of Mr. Wang Dongbin, an 1 REMTE b Ry AR A W AT B E ORI BC AR . AR AR RS 2 S
executive director of the Company. Under the SFO, Ms. Xiong is Betgdl, A LR R B RE4FT iR Smart  East$ 160,000,000
deemed to be interested in the 60,000,000 Shares held by Smart A o
East as mentioned in Note 4.

2 Ms. An Ning is the spouse of Mr. Li Kangying, an executive

2 SRR RPTE E AR I . AR R SO B

director of the Company. Under the SFO, Ms. An is deemed to
be interested in the 60,000,000 Shares held by Main Wealth as
mentioned in Note 5.
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Ms. Zhang Jianhua is the spouse of Mr. Wu Zhanjiang, an
executive director of the Company. Under the SFO, Ms.
Zhang is deemed to be interested in the 60,000,000 Shares
held by Union Sino as mentioned in Note 6.

These Shares were held by Smart East, which was wholly
owned by Mr. Wang Dongbin, an executive Director.

These Shares were held by Main Wealth, which was wholly
owned by Mr. Li Kangying, an executive Director.

These Shares were held by Union Sino, which was wholly
owned by Mr. Wu Zhanjiang, an executive Director.

These Shares were held by Long Eagle, which was wholly
owned by Toplight Management Limited. Trident Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited is interested in all the shares in
Toplight Management Limited as a trustee of the trust. Mr.
Cao Mingda is the founder of a discretionary trust and is
interested in 60,000,000 Shares through Trident Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited, the trustee of the trust, through
its controlled company, Toplight Management Limited. Under
the SFO, Toplight Management Limited, Trident Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited and Mr. Cao Mingda are deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Long Eagle.

Ms. Pang Zigian is the spouse of Mr. Cao Mingda. Under the
SFO, Ms. Pang is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Long Eagle as mentioned in Note 7.

These Shares were held by Chance Talent. As at the date of
this report, China Construction Bank Corporation was owned
by Central Huijin Investment Limited as to approximately
57.31%. CCB International Group Holdings Limited was
wholly owned by China Construction Bank Corporation. CCB
Financial Holdings Limited was wholly owned by CCB
International Group Holdings Limited. CCB International
(Holdings) Limited was wholly owned by CCB Financial
Holdings Limited. CCBI Investments was wholly owned by
CCB International (Holdings) Limited. Chance Talent was
wholly owned by CCBI Investments. Each of Central Huijin
Investment Limited, China Construction Bank Corporation,
CCB International Group Holdings Limited, CCB Financial
Holdings Limited, CCB International (Holdings) Limited and
CCBI Investments is deemed to be interested in the Shares
which Chance Talent is interested in.

Great Attain International Limited is owned as to 25% by
each of Smart East, Long Eagle, Main Wealth and Union Sino
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the
Directors have not been notified by any person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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FIA ARG, R 2o LW AR AE R Bt 536 BTk Union Sino A7 11
60,000,000 /1% 5 173 »

FZAE I i Smart EastffAT, RZ2A ] BT EROR LR
B ¢ T

ZAF Y HMain Wealth #6324 Al AT # A4 de st
U A .

FASE Y HHUnion SinoffAT, 5% ) B SR T 3 SR SRRV S AR
Ey ¢ Zc

RZEEE Y HLong EagleRf A, %AW HiToplight Management
Limited4> & ¥4, Toplight Management Limited H1 8 B i 254
A EHEH . Trident Trust Company (Cayman) Limited{F Ni%
{EFEMIZFEN, I Toplight Management Limited (1) T 4 %
. WA RGIRMAIGAN, WEBEFENZIEA
Trident Trust Company (Cayman) LimitediE it 4% % A &)
Toplight Management Limited 4 47 60,000,000 Ji% iz i« #i2 4%

(3B L& 15451) . Toplight Management Limited. Trident
Trust Company (Cayman)  Limited [ B3 56 2 i 45 % )
Long EagleR§ A MR A HE 2
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 5 February 2018 for the purpose of
enabling the Group to grant share options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Group.

All options granted under the Share Option Scheme dated 30
July 2018 have lapsed. As at the date of this report, there were
no outstanding options granted but not yet exercised under the
Share Option Scheme. No options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Company is aware that under Rule 17.03A of the Listing
Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2023, participants of
share schemes shall only comprise employee participants,
related entity participants and service providers (as defined in
the Listing Rules). The Company will only grant the share
options under the Share Option Scheme to eligible participants
in compliance with Rule 17.03A of the Listing Rules and
pursuant to the transitional arrangements for share schemes
existing as at 1 January 2023 as specified by the Stock Exchange.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

(a) Who may join

Subject to the amendment to the Listing Rules regarding
share schemes which came into effect on 1 January 2023,
our Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any
person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants, to take up options to subscribe for Shares:

(aa) any employee (whether full-time or part-time
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of our Company, any of
our subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested
Entity”) in which our Group holds an equity interest
(“Eligible Employee”);

(bb) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of our Company, any of
our subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(cc) any supplier of goods or services to any member of
our Group or any Invested Entity;

(dd) any customer of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

(ee) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any

member of our Group or any Invested Entity;
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(ff)

(99)

(hh)

any shareholder of any member of our Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of our Group
or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of business or business development of
any member of our Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint

venture, business alliance or other business

arrangement and growth of our Group,

and, for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme,
the options may be granted to any company wholly
owned by one or more persons belonging to any of
the above classes of participants. For the avoidance
of doubt, the grant of any options by our Company
for the subscription of Shares or other securities of
our Group to any person who falls within any of the
above classes of participants shall not, by itself, unless
our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as a
grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the above class of participants
to the grant of any option shall be determined by
our Directors from time to time on the basis of
our Directors’ option as to his contribution to the
development and growth of our Group.
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(b)

(€)

Maximum number of Shares

The Company had held an EGM on 16 September 2020 to
refresh the Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit. The
Company had been allowed to grant further share options
to subscribe for up to an aggregate of 50,392,717 Shares,
representing approximately 10% of the issued Shares
(excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this report,
which do not include the share options that are
outstanding, cancelled or have lapsed as at the date of
the EGM.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of our Group (including both exercised or outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of our
Company for the time being (the “Individual Limit”).
Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual
Limit in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of such further grant shall be subject to the issue of
a circular to our Shareholders and our Shareholders’
approval in general meeting of our Company with
such participant and his associates abstaining from
voting.
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(d)

()

(f)

(¢)]

The exercise price

The exercise price must be at least the higher of: (i) the
closing price of the securities as stated in the
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; and (ii) the
average closing price of the securities as stated in the
Exchange’s daily quotations the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

sheets for

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An option may be accepted by a participant within
21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the
option. An option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any
time during a period to be determined and notified
by our Directors to each grantee, which period may
commence on a day after the date upon which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of
grant of the option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined
by our Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of
options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the
holding of an option before it can be exercised.

The vesting period for which an option must be held

before it can be exercised

Unless determined by the Directors, there is no vesting
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the
holding of an option before it can be exercised.

The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period within
which payment or calls must or may be made

A remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.0 must

be made on or before the date of acceptance (which
may not be later than 21 days from the date of offer.)
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(h)

(i)

Number of options and awards available for
grant

As at the date of this report, the number of options
and awards available for grant under the scheme
mandate limit shall not exceed 50,392,717 Shares
representing approximately 10% of the total issued
Shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares).

The number of options and awards available for grant
under the scheme mandate limit as at 1 April 2023
and 31 March 2024 were 50,392,717 Shares each.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing from 5
February 2018, after which period no further options
will be granted but the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in
all other respects. In particular, all options granted
before the end of such period shall continue to be
valid and exercisable after the end of such period in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. As at the date of this report, the Share
Option Scheme has a remaining life of approximately
four years.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (“Share Award
Scheme”) on 27 July 2018 to (i) recognise and reward the
contribution of certain eligible participants to the growth
and development of the Group and to give incentives
thereto in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (ii) to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

On 27 August 2018 and 2 August 2019, the Board, based on
the recommendation of the remuneration committee of
the Board, resolved to provide a sum of HK$3.0 million and
HK$2.0 million respectively for the trustee of the Share
Award Scheme to purchase Shares from the market pursuant
to the Share Award Scheme. Further details of the Scheme
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 27
July 2018, 27 August 2018 and 2 August 2019, respectively.

The Company is aware that under Rule 17.03A of the Listing
Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2023, participants
of share schemes shall only comprise employee participants,
related entity participants and service providers (as defined
in the Listing Rules). The Company will only grant the share
awards under the Share Award Scheme to eligible
participants in compliance with Rule 17.03A of the Listing
Rules and pursuant to the transitional arrangements for
share schemes existing as at 1 January 2023 as specified by

the Stock Exchange.

The principal terms of the Share Award Scheme are as
follows:
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(@)

(b)

(c)

Who may join

Subject to the amendment to the Listing Rules
regarding share schemes which came into effect on 1
January 2023, the eligibility of any of the eligible
participants to an award shall be determined by the Board
from time to time on the basis of the Board’s opinion as to
his contribution and/or future contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Such eliglbe participants includes any employee (whether
full time or part time, including any executive Director),
non-executive independent
Directors, Shareholders and advisers of/to the Company,
any subsidiary of the Company or any entity in which
any member of the Group holds any equity interest or
any company in which a member of the Group may
have a direct or indirect investment in 20% or more of

and non-executive

its voting powers and any company which is a
subsidiary or invested entity of the controlling

shareholder(s) of the Company.

Maximum number of Shares

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of awards
available for issue were 8,512,000 Shares, representing
approximately 1.7% of the total issued Shares of the
Company (excluding treasury shares), held in trust by
the trustee under the Share Award Scheme. As at 31
March 2024, no Share has been awarded by the Board
to any eligible participant of the Share Award Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The aggregate number of the Shares underlying all
grants made during the term of the Share Award
Scheme is limited to 3% of the issued share capital of
the Company (excluding treasury shares) from time to
time. The maximum number of Shares awarded to a
selected participant under the Share Award Scheme
shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company (excluding treasury shares) from time to time.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(<))

(h)

Number of options and awards available for
grant

As at the date of this report, the number of options and
awards available for grant under the scheme mandate
limit shall not exceed 50,392,717 Shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total issued Shares of the
Company (excluding treasury shares).

The number of options and awards available for grant
under the scheme mandate limit as at 1 April 2023 and
31 March 2024 were 50,392,717 Shares each.

The vesting period for which an award must
be held before it can be exercised

The Board may from time to time, at its discretion,
determine the vesting date upon which the awarded
shares held by the trustee upon the trust and which are
referable to a selected participant shall vest in that
selected participant.

The amount payable on acceptance of the
award

Unless determined by the Directors, no amount is
payable on acceptance of the award.

Exerciseable period

Unless determined by the Directors, no exercise period is
set.

Life of the Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing 27 July 2018. As at
the date of this report, the Share Award Scheme has a
remaining life of approximately four years.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company and subsisted at the end of or at any time during
the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to shareholders by reason of their holding in the
Company’s Share.

SHARES/DEBENTURES ISSUED

No shares or debentures of the Company were issued
during the Year.

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them; nor was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiary corporations or fellow subsidiary
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or their respective spouses or minor children to

acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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Directors’ Report

HEERE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the percentages of revenue attributable
to major customers of the Group were as follows:

FRE. HESUEE EiES

AR FEA A BHAT AU 23 7 3 A el L L e
A A TR LTS

FEEFRYEER

AR EAR A LR P 2 WG S A R M s 2 1 5
EA/I NN

Percentage of total revenue of the Group

Tl AR B W 2t 4B EH 1 40 b
The largest customer H—mKEP 33.01%
Five largest customers combined R . K& F &5 88.60%

During the Year, the percentages of purchases attributable
to the major suppliers of the Group were as follows:

A A A (o] ) 3 L O RIS AN I PRI AR 2
S

Percentage of total purchases of the Group

A G B R SRR 1 20 b

The largest supplier B L
Five largest suppliers combined B TR R A ET

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of Directors own
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company)
had any interest in the major customers and/or suppliers
noted above.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no other material events after the year ended
31 March 2024 as at the date of this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the
public at all times throughout the Year as required under
the Rules Governing the Listing of the Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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Directors’ Report

HEERE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Monday, 16
September 2024. Shareholders of the Company should
refer to the details regarding the AGM in the circular to be
despatched by the Company and the notice of meeting
and form of proxy accompanying therewith.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, 11 September 2024 to Monday, 16
September 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Link Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty Limited, at Suite
1601, 16/F, Central Tower,28 Queen’s Road Central Hong
Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 10
September 2024 (Hong Kong time), being the last registration
date.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year have been audited by KPMG Certified Public
Accountants who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

There has been no changes in the auditors of the
Company in the proceeding three years.

By order of the Board
OneForce Holdings Limited
WANG Dongbin

Chairman

Beijing, China, 26 June 2024.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WIZ B EN RS

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
OneForce Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
OneForce Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 170, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and notes, comprising material
information and other

accounting  policy explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement, were of most significance

consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

in our audit of the

RS AT I

I S S IR AR R AP (0 ST
BAFAR AW F R 0 F AT e Ay HE N H
o JE IR AR A AT B M AR A B
R B R AT P, A ErEhE
S IR LR R
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opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Recognition of contract revenue

BA A FERE

Refer to accounting policy Note 2(v) and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements

BB B I IRFMNIEE 2(v) HI B AT KR MT5E 4
The Key Audit Matter
FREEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAIRER P REZEENTE

The Group’s business involves entering into contractual
relationships with customers to provide a range of services,
including the provision of design, implementation, enhancement
and upgrades of software systems and the provision of technical
services for power grid and other distribution companies in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
ERENEBIRARFIILE0MER, URH—RIIR,
BREATPEARLME ( [HE] ) ERXEAMEELATIR
gt BT RARAREER SRR ERATRS.

A significant proportion of the Group’s revenue is derived from
long-term contracts, most of which are fixed price contracts.
EEENABAREKERBEHN, HPRBOAREERE
FI

The recognition of revenue on long-term contracts is based on the
stage of completion of work performed on a contract at the
reporting date. The recognition of revenue for an incomplete
project is dependent on estimating the total outcome of the
contract as well as the work performed to date.

REBEAONB R DERRES B S OPMET TIERM T AR
ERFERR . ARITAUE B MG ERBUR R SR EETAEER, U
RicSegTIEE.
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of contract
revenue included the following: B {fIsE (& AU ZS FER I BALTE
FERENTEIE:

e obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls over the recognition of contract revenue, including
the controls over recording work done, invoicing and cash
receipts;

s BREFEESOREEENIZNENRT. BT
REERRN, SRHTHRETHIE. BERRSKI
TR

e selecting a sample of contracts, using a variety of quantitative
and qualitative criteria, and performing the following
procedures for each contract selected:

o BBEEIBEAR. ERAENEEREMIRERBATIER
BEEENERNTRERF:

— inspecting key terms, including pricing, deliverables,
timetable and milestones, which were set out in the
contracts and inquiring of the relevant project managers
about key aspects of the contract, including the estimated
total contract costs, key project risks, contingencies and
billing schedules;

- BERNEIINER. . BERREERSIEG
MR EAMEECESHSANTRTE, BG4
BHMA. TREBER. IREARRKERER



Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Recognition of contract revenue

BRI FERE

BSEERTHIR (8D

Refer to accounting policy Note 2(v) and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements

BB S TR ML 2(v) B B AR R T aE 4
The Key Audit Matter
FEETHIE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAIRER P REZEERENTE

Forecasting the outcome of a contract involves the exercise of
significant management judgement in relation to estimating the
total costs for individual contracts. These assumptions include
estimating future labour costs required to complete the contract
based on the customised specifications of individual contract.
Errors in contract forecasts could result in a material variance in
the amount of profit or loss recognised to date and therefore also
in the current period.

FERENER IR EEER G EESOMEMAERELRY
%oﬁ%ﬁ%@ﬁ%#“@A%mE%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁA%%

FHORRALRA. EOFRAHERTEEBUCSHEDRNEBRE
@ﬁﬁik%i,ﬁﬁﬁ%§$%m HER.

We identified the recognition of contract revenue as a key audit
matter because contract revenue accounts for a significant
proportion of the Group’s revenue and because the recognition of
contract revenue involves a significant degree of management
judgement in assessing factors which can be inherently uncertain
and may be subject to management bias.

B ENREERDMBERNEE FEAGHKAMER
E%ﬁ%k%ﬁ,ﬂA%Wﬁﬁqu%ﬁT EfF A B A

EMNERFEHERNEEEHE T IR FEEEERRFBR
AIER.
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— challenging the underlying judgements of senior operational
and financial management personnel in their estimations of
total estimated contract costs and estimated costs to
complete the contract where it was still in progress at the
reporting date by comparing their estimates with relevant
underlying documentation, including suppliers’ quotations and
agreed contracts;

-LL%%@EM&%%EEAEMﬁﬂﬁﬁ%Y#(@%

HEFHNRERBESA) iR, FRHEAEMGEGETE
KIRMAR SRR HE BEIMDEE TR A A AR (At A RY

e B91ERAIER;

— comparing items recorded as contract costs during the year
with suppliers’ contracts, third party engineers’ certifications
of work completed, where applicable, and other relevant
underlying documentation;

- BRENARIIBEHANANEBREEF . E=H1T
AL RN TIEEMER (MBA) REMEREXHET
L&

— agreeing total contract revenue to the contracted terms;
- BEERERNEEELIL S,

— comparing the percentages of completion as assessed by the
Group’s project managers with the customer’s certifications of
work completed; and

- KREEEEACEFMENT LB LREFHEMNTIE
SERNEERR, &

— recalculating the percentage of completion based on contract
costs incurred up to the reporting date and estimated total
contract costs;

- BEREEREBIEENEGORARMAETHES
STETIED T,

MR AREH

. on a sample basis, comparing management’s estimated
costs to complete selected contracts at the end of the
previous financial year with actual costs incurred during the
current year and enquiring of the management about any
significant variances identified; and

. &ﬁﬁ%fﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬂt 18 B B R R (i 5 52 BUE

BRNRARAEEEENERRA, TEEEEN
Fﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁkn]ﬁ’]ﬁﬂﬁki,\,

. on a sample basis, discussing with project managers the
stage of completion and services provided.

* ERERAREERUIA B AR T TR E TR AR .
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BSEERTHIR (8D

Expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets

EZRURERSNEENTEHEREREE

Refer to accounting policy Notes 2(n) and 2(o) and Notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

FEBREFBRMEL 2(n) 7 2(0) X R A & I #RZ 74T 16 7117

The Key Audit Matter
T TR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAIRER P REZEERENT X

The Group’s operations gave rise to significant trade receivable
balances and contract assets. As at 31 March 2024, net trade
receivables and net contract assets amounted to RMB447,732,000
and RMB49,199,000 respectively, which represented 68% and 7%
of the total assets of the Group respectively and against which a
loss allowance of RMB36,985,000 and RMB634,000 for expected
credit losses (ECLs) were recorded respectively.
ERENKERHELEREESRERIREGRRENEE. B
2024 £ 3 B 31 H, EPEBEIETFERGNEEFEN A

AR 447,732,000 ;TR ARHE 49,199,000 7T, 7 AlEEEHE

EEMETEN 8%k 7%, HPEBEEBEESEIIAARE
36,985,000 JT K& A R 634,000 JC.

The Group measures loss allowances on trade receivables and
contract assets at amounts equal to lifetime ECL using a provision
matrix which involved significant management judgement in
estimating loss rate and adjusting factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current economic
conditions and forward-looking information.
EEEFAEBERRERRSPEREEEENSEEE
SRBFIERGNEENEGRER, ETSREMTEBEEER
AREBARERRAENEAEEEHE R HIRFEERE
KAt ERET .

We identified assessing ECL allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets as a key audit matter because of the significance of
the balances of trade receivables and contract assets to the
consolidated financial statements and because of the significant
management judgement required in estimating the ECL
allowances at the reporting date, which can be inherently
uncertain.
B E S RBGRIER SN EENTRREREBREEGRTE
%Fﬁiﬁ?%ﬁ?lﬁ RRE#iFaMBRENEHRBEGIEREH
EEGREABRREDPETENEREEREGETEEERE
EL TTRE B A WERHEE R E R HER.
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Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets included the following:
BMHhE ZRERIER ENEETENEBEREHENEZE
FERBNTEIE:

. obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt collection and
estimating loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets;

o BBMEFHMERERED. BHREREE B BREE

RENE EE’JEE?&%&‘%’EFM’JE%W*{S? HE9RRET . B
TREERNM

. evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating the credit loss
allowance with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standard;

o SERTEHENMNER, FHMEESEHEREEEEN
fhat,

o comparing, on a sample basis, the categorisation of trade
receivables and contract assets in the ageing report with
invoices issued, contract terms, contract progress reports
and other relevant underlying documentation;

*  MERLEEBRERETESREHERESNEENDEEE
FENER. 5A%KK. SAEEREXRHMMERX
%
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets

EZRURERSNEENTEHEREREE

REERTEIE (8D

Refer to accounting policy Notes 2(n) and 2(o) and Notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

FEBREFBRMEL 2(n) 7 2(0) X R A & I #RZ 74T 16 7117

The Key Audit Matter
T TR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAIRER P REZEERENT X

79

obtaining an understanding on the key data and assumption
of the expected credit loss model adopted by the
management, including the basis of the segmentation of the
trade receivables and contract assets based on the credit risk
characteristics, the historical default data, and the
assumptions involved in management’s estimated loss rate;
Eﬁﬁﬁ EEMRMNTEREEEEEXNEZEE IR

BIEREE E‘J—Wﬁ%‘#%f’ﬁ HNE ZRBRFHEREL
”‘EE’J MEEE, BTENBEREEEGITBEBREN
/ﬂ’&ﬁﬁ{EXuX/

assessing the appropriateness of management’s estimates of
loss allowance by examining the information used by
management to derive such estimates, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data and evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-looking
information;

M EEEMTEEEENEEN, HEATESEEE
BMBEZEFEEHNER, 8RARBEEAOBIENE
H#E r&*&uﬂm_ﬁléﬁai%ﬁ RIGIR R RIRE R TR M
BERMEL IR ER

re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance as at 31
March 2024 based on the Group’s credit loss allowance
policies; and

RIFEEENEEEBEBEBRENTER 2024 F£3 A
31 HEEERE, X

assessing the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of trade receivables and
contract assets with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
SERTEHEINHAE, HHEKERGEMBRER
NEME S RBFIER SN EENKE.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and no for other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among FREA IR IS, BAMBLH L & aihiE T E
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and B TR R HE. EORE AT
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in &, BFEBAMAE T R 9 ] AT
internal control that we identify during our audit. (DEWNT7{=H
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and

relevant ethical

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chu Man Wai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

26 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

AREIRIR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”))
7202443 H 31 H LA
CRANRSHE (T ARES ] O315R)

2024 & 2023 4E
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

PaE AR% Tt INGLEw

Revenue W 4 490,552 449,861
Cost of sales SH A A (413,474) (354,982)
Gross profit EA 4(b) 77,078 94,879
Other income HAAN 5 2,173 6,092
Selling expenses SR E (6,600) (5,323)
Administrative and other operating T BUX At

expenses KEEH (48,498) (49,584)
Impairment losses on trade GO IERGR . ARG

receivables, contract assets and HoAth N R T

other receivables B8 6(b) (11,894) (9,493)
Profit from operations REBEF 12,259 36,571
Finance costs Rl Rl A (3,832) (2,592)
Share of profits of an associate JAE AL — ] Hsi 7 2 ] i ) 9 36
Profit before taxation R AT B A 6 8,436 34,015
Income tax IEEE 7 (79) (1,445)
Profit for the year attributable RAERERBIR
to equity shareholders of the BAGEN
Company HF 8,357 32,570
Earnings per share I EF
Basic/diluted (RMB cents) A (NRBED 10 1.69 6.57

The notes on pages 91 to 170 form part of the consolidated WOIEH E 170 A s al s SRR — B4 -
financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity JEEASE AS 2 ) bR 2 B R A B IR 2 51 T B R 26(b)
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for

the years are set out in Note 26(b).
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FEESRE S ERER
moEmNEMEZEINER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

(Expressed in RMB)

7202443 H 31 H LA
(AR BI7R)
[ 202 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT NN R
Profit for the year b 8357 32570
Other comprehensive income for the year (after tax) FENHMmETERAN (BE%E)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: ~ R1& Al GEE T HIEE R asHIEH :
- Exchange differences on translation into - B A B I B
presentation currency bE o ZERH 264 787
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to AR R B R AR EE N ETHRA
equity shareholders of the Company #aEH 8,621 33,357

The notes on pages 91 to 170 form part of the consolidated financial FO1H B H 170 H Mt s GBIk KR —H -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fn e ISR R
At 31 March 2024
(Expressed in RMB)

4202443 H31H
(DL R SR

Note
PHAE

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Interest in an associate
Deferred tax assets

Restricted cash

Current assets
Inventories and other contract costs
Contract assets

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Cash at bank and on hand

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Bank loans

Income tax payable

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Bank loans

Lease liabilities

Net assets

The notes on pages 91 to 170 form part of the consolidated financial statements.

FREEE
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11
12
14
25(b)
19

15
16
17

18
19

20

21

22
25(a)

23
22
24

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T NREE TG
6,226 7,899
3,335 8,835
3,643 3,634
5,566 3,368
10,000 -
e_._.28770 23,736
58,704 19,425
49,199 61,004
447,732 381,793
9,209 17,656
62,891 55,517
__________ 627,735 535395
151,932 136,682
59,111 58,095
132,455 70,631
23,939 21,579
__________ 367,437 ___________286,987_
__________ 260,298 248,408
289,068 272,144
2,060 -
9,920 3,000
- 677
e 11980 3,677
277,088 268,467

FO1H B 170 H M AL AR S B iR — 7).



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
EEMBRNE (8D

At 31 March 2024

(Expressed in RMB)
#202443431H
(VNN

2023

2024
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

(il AR® T NS

Capital and reserves B A R A 26

Share capital il 4,130 4,130
Reserves it 272,958 264,337

Total equity WA ARAE 277,088 268,467
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on A 202446 F 26 H i K B2AET 3%

26 June 2024.

Wang Dongbin Wu Hongyuan
FRIH Stk
chairman Director
FE HH
The notes on pages 91 to 170 form part of the consolidated FEOLH B 170 H M E A AR B I SRk E —H 4.

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERSSEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

(Expressed in RMB)
7202443 H 31 H LA
(AN B

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AR R R R A
Shares held
Share  under share Share Other  Statutory  Exchange Retained
capital award scheme premium reserves reserves reserve profits Total equity
MR 8
Ry=1 8 fr
BA ARG BROEE HbRE Sefkl EREE  RERR  EDREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(Note (Note (Note
(Note 26(c))  (Note26(d)  26(f)()) (7)) 26(f)ii)
(3 (BaE
(MfaE26(c)  (FfraE26(d) (FEE26(F)() 26(f)(i))  26(f)ii)
A1 April 2022 Rao22fpafal 4130 (4425 w0018 54450 A7S5 2607 3575235110
Changes in equity for year BZE2023F3H31H ILEE
ended 31 March 2023: B
Profit and total comprehensive AN E AT ION
income for the year Ha% .- 32570 33357
Appropriation to reserves SR 4 1,936 (1,936)
e R R - -4 SO (1936) - _
At 31 March 2023 2023437310 4,130 (4,425) 140,018 54,450 6,691 3,394 64,209 268,467
At1 April 2023 JR20236E4 4 1 oo 130 a425) 140018 ¢ M40 6691 334 ! 64,209 268,467
Changes in equity for year HF 202030310 ILEE
ended 31 March 2024: ERgH):
Profit and total comprehensive A R AT
income for the year A% - 8357 8621
Appropriation to reserves R4 2,670 (2,670)
%0 @670 - _
At 31 March 2024 R20244E3H31H 4,130 (4,425) 140,018 54,450 9,361 3,658 69,896 277,088

The notes on pages 91 to 170 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.

88

FOLH A H 170 HRE A AR & R — 2.



Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

<=1 = AN g —1 %
GG SIREMER
For the year ended 31 March 2024

(Expressed in RMB)

WA 202443 H31H L4
QYNNI

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortisation

Finance costs

Impairment loss on trade receivables, contract
assets and other receivables

Share of profit of an associate

Changes in working capital:
Increase in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets
Increase in trade and bills receivables

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables

Decrease in deposit certificate
Increase in trade payables

Increase in other payables and accruals

Cash (used in)/generated from operations

Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating
activities

The notes on pages 91 to 170 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE ARET T RN
8,436 34,015

6(b) 7,530 12,268
3,832 2,592

6(b) 11,894 9,493
(9) (36)

(39,279) (4,951)

12,205 (13,128)

(77,895) (95,018)

8,109 (12,237)

- 9,327

15,250 41,455

1,565 20,425

(48,362) 4,205

25(a) 83 (304)
(48,279) 3,901

O1H £ 55170 H ML A BAR G A B iR — & 70 o



Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

<=1 = AN g —1 %
GG SIREMER
For the year ended 31 March 2024

(Expressed in RMB)

WA 202443 H31H L4
QYNNI

Note

FaE

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

Net cash used in from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from new borrowings
Proceeds from amount to a related party

Repayment of bank loans

Repayment of amount due to third parties

Pledged restricted cash for borrowings
Capital element of lease rentals paid
Interest element of lease rentals paid

Interest paid

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rates changes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The notes on pages 91 to 170 form part of the consolidated
financial statements.

BEFHNRERE
WEEE. WU %t
Y& AT

BRES T RS

MREESNRERE

H Ak Fr Ak I

I Mt 5 i ek i A K
IR AT B

TR 55 = J750H
Tk i B 2 IR B
CATHEAR ST

O AL L
S

Rl R I B TS B S
BeRBESREYIEMEHE

EVRERBREFEY

ShIERE R BB E

ERRERREEED

19(b)
19(b)
19(b)

19(b)

19(b)
19(b)
19(b)
19(b)

19(a)

19(a)

2024 2023
RMB’000 [GLY=H0000
ARET BUNGL:SE
yiv JG
(357) (146)
_______ (357) ______[(146)
139,375 84,131
2,060 -
(70,631) (58,020)
- (255)
(10,000) -
(1,231) (707)
(51) (10)
(3,781) (2,582)
______ 55,741 22,557
7,105 26,312
55,517 28,597
269 608
62,891 55,517

FOLH B 170 H MRk AL A= & B RAE — 7).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RAF5 8RR 5T

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRFAAREHSN, BARESIR)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 1. AFER

OneForce Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 5 July 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 2 March 2018 (the
“Listing Date”). The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
design, implementation, enhancement and upgrades of
software systems and the provision of technical services for
power grid and distribution companies in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the sale of products and the
investment, construction and operation of smart city
infrastructure in the PRC.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(&) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting year of the
Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current accounting year reflected in
these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PATS SRR MR

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI AREISL, BARWFIR)

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2024 comprise the Group and the Group’s
interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets are stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies in relation to
investments in debt and equity securities (see Note 2(h));

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded
a net operating cash outflow of RMB48,279,000 (2023:
inflow RMB3,901,000). At the same time, the Group is
committed to incur non-operating cash outflows of
RMB135,183,000 within one year, being (i) repayment of
bank loans of RMB132,455,000; and (ii) payment of interest
of RMB2,728,000. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s
current assets exceeded its current liabilities by
RMB260,298,000 (31 March 2023: RMB248,408,000).
Considering that the Group has maintained long-term
strong business relationship with its major banks to get
their continuing support and currently most of the bank
loans were guaranteed by shareholders of the Group, the
Directors of the Company are of the opinion that renewal is
likely to be obtained during the twelve months ending 31
March 2024. Based on the cash flow forecast, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient financial resources for its operations for at least
12 months from the end of the reporting period. As such,
the financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRS Accounting Standards requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the
revision and future years if the revision affects both current
and future years.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and
amended IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the IASB to these financial statements for the
current accounting period:

. IFRS 17, Insurance contracts

. Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and
errors: Definition of accounting estimates

. Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements and IFRS Practice
Statement 2, Making materiality
judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

d Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single transaction

d Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two
model rules

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period. The adoption of
Amendments to IAS 1 requires entities to
disclose material accounting policy information
and provide guidance on applying the concept
of materiality to accounting policy disclosure.
The Group has revisited the accounting policy
information it has been disclosing and
considered it is consistent with the
amendments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BEREFTBUR ()

(d) ThReREFIE%

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) which is the Group’s
presentation currency and the functional
currency of the Company’s subsidiaries in the

IR LR ( TARE] D
25, NRE/AEHETEH L
A w) BB R A A I TR
. BRAAIHRYS, TABEHECY

PRC. All amounts have been rounded to the B F A e ) T B
nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.
(e) Subsidiaries (e) MBAF

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date on which
control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for
foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related non-controlling
interests and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary is measured at fair value when
control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(l)),
unless it is classified as held for sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

(¢)]

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method, unless it is classified
as held for sale. They are initially recognised at
cost, which
Subsequently, the
statements include the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
(“OCl”) of those investees, until the date on
which significant influence.

includes transaction costs.

consolidated financial

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest
is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method, together with any other
long-term interests that in substance form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate,
after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with
equity-accounted eliminated
against the investment to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised

investees are

losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is
no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 2(l)), unless it is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group
classified as held for sale).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is tested annually for impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in
securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are
set out below.
Investments in securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL) for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in
profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 27(d). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.

(i) Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Expected credit losses, interest income
calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 2(v)(iv)), foreign
exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Other investments in debt securities

(i) Non-equity investments

fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) - recycling, if the
contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale.
Expected credit losses, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss
and computed in the same manner as if
the financial asset was measured at
amortised cost. The difference between
the fair value and the amortised cost is
recognised in OCl. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.

fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) if
the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the
fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Other investments in securities

(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVPL unless the investment is
not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition the group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in OCI.
Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. If such
election is made for a particular investment,
at the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings
and not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified
as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit
or loss as other income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are stated at cost, which
includes capitalised borrowing costs, less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses (Note 2(l)(ii)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, then
they are accounted for as separate items
(major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is recognised in
profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment, less
their estimated residual values, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, and is generally recognised in
profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

- Right-of-use assets Over the
lease term

- Leasehold improvement Shorter
between

leased period
and 10 years
- Motor vehicles, 3 to 5 years
office equipment
and other equipment

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on an internal research and
development  projects is  distinguished
between the expenditures during the
research phase and expenditures during the
development phase. Research activities
involve original and planned investigation
undertaken with the prospect of gaining new
scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding. Development activities
involve a plan or design for the production of
new or substantially improved materials,
devices, products or processes before the
start of commercial production or use.

Expenditure on research activities s
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Development expenditure is capitalised only
if the expenditure can be measured reliably,
the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible, future economic
benefits are probable and the Group intends
to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the resulting
asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or
loss as incurred. Capitalised development
expenditure is subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets, including patents and
trademarks, that are acquired by the Group
and have finite useful lives are measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses (Note 2(l)(ii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets shall begin
when the asset is available for use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Amortisation is calculated to write off the
cost of intangible assets less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives, if any, and is
generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

- Software and patents 3 to 5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and
residual values are reviewed at each reporting
date and adjusted if appropriate.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease.
This is the case if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for leases that have a short
lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value items such as laptops and office
furniture. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value item, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised,
the associated lease payments are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BR S HREI S,

YNNI

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be
readily determined, wusing a relevant
incremental borrowing rate.  After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense s
recognised using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability, and
are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on
which it is located, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset s
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
Notes 2(i) and 2(l)(ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of-use assets in
accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in non-equity
securities carried at amortised cost (see
Notes 2(h)(i), 2(v)(iv) and 2(l)(i)). Any excess
of the nominal value over the initial fair value
of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BR S HREI S,

2.

YNNI

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is
a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, if there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or if the group changes its
assessment of whether it will exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a lease modification, which means a
change in the scope of a lease or the
consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract, if such
modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B
of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group
has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to
be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) credit losses

from financial

instruments and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance

for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on:

- financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables).

- contract assets (see Note 2(n)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a

probability-weighted

estimate of credit losses. Generally,
credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash
shortfalls between the contractual and

expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are

discounted using the following rates if
the effect is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade

and other

receivables and

contract assets: effective interest

rate determined at initial

recognition or
thereof.

an approximation

The maximum period considered when

estimating ECLs is the maximum

contractual period

over which the

Group is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion
of ECLs that result from default events
that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date (or a shorter
period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months);
and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives of

the items to which the ECL model applies.

The group measures loss allowances at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for
the following, which are measured at 12-
months ECLs:

financial instruments that are
determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date; and

- other financial instruments (including
loan commitments issued) for which
credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) credit losses

from financial

instruments, contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit
risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial
recognition and when measuring ECLs,
the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that s
relevant and available without undue
cost or effort. This includes both
guantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the
Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment, that
includes forward-looking information.

The group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for
investments in non-equity securities
that are measured at FVOCI (recycling),
for which the loss allowance is
recognised in OCl and accumulated in
the fair value reserve (recycling) does
not reduce the carrying amount of the
financial asset in the statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following
observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a
default or being more than 90 days
past due;

the restructuring of a loan or
advance by the group on terms that
the group would not consider
otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active

market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
This is generally the case when the asset
becomes 90 days past due or the Group
otherwise determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows
to repay the amounts subject to the write-
off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets (other than property carried at
revalued amounts, investment property,
inventories and other contract costs,
contract assets and deferred tax assets) to
determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are
grouped together into the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other
assets or cash-generating units (“CGU”s).
Goodwill arising from a business
combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the

combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or
CGU is the greater of its value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal. Value
in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows, discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss. They are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the CGU, and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other
assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the resulting carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(I)  Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Interim financial reporting and

Impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies
the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year
(see Notes 2(l)(i) and (ii)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m)

Inventories and other contract costs

(i)

(ii)

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of
cost and net realizable value. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less any
estimated costs of completion and costs
to be incurred in selling the property.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see Note
2(m)(i)), property, plant and equipment
(see Note 2(i)) or intangible assets (see
Note 2(j)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract,
e.g. sales commissions, are capitalised if
the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period
and the costs are expected to be
recovered. Other costs of obtaining a

contract are expensed when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI ARESL, ARSI

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Inventories and other contract costs
(Continued)

(i)

Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if
the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or
enhance resources that will be used to
provide goods or services in the future;
and are expected to be recovered.
Otherwise, costs of fulfilling a contract,
which are not capitalised as inventory,
property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as
incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Amortisation of
capitalised contract costs is recognised
in profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised
(see Note 2(v)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 e AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RSN, BLARMSIR)

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(0)

(9]

Contract assets

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see Note 2(v)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the terms in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for ECLs (see Note 2(l)(i)) and are

reclassified to receivables when the right to the

consideration becomes unconditional (see Note 2(0)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant  financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECLs (see Note 2(l)(i)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)
2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q)  Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are

initially

recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial

recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of

discounting would be immaterial, in which case

they are stated at invoice amounts.

(r)  Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are

measured

initially at fair value less transaction costs.

Subsequently, these borrowings are

stated at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest expense is recognised in accordance with

Note 2(y).

(s) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

and

contributions to defined contribution

retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are

expensed as the related service is

provided. A liability is recognised for the

amount expected to be paid, if the group

has a present legal or constructive

obligation to pay this amount as a result
of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated

reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined

contribution retirement plans

are

expensed as the related service s

provided.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Employee benefits

(ii)

(iii)

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled
based payments granted to
employees is measured using the binomial
lattice model. The amount is generally
recognised as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the
vesting period of the awards. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect number of awards for which the
related service conditions are expected to
be met, such that the amount ultimately
recognised is based on the number of
awards that meet the related service

share

conditions at the vesting date.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises costs for a
restructuring.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)
2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. it is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in equity
in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year and any adjustments to the tax payable or
receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the
best estimate of the tax amount expected to be
paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes. It is measured using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax
arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
not a business combination and that affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that, the Group is able to control the
timing of reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Income tax (Continued)

The group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used. Future
taxable profits are determined based on the
reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences.
If the amount of taxable temporary differences is
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full,
then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals
of existing temporary differences, are considered,
based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that
theythe related tax benefit will reverse in the be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves.

The measurement of deferred reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the group expects, at the reporting date,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined
based on the incremental costs of fulfilling the
obligation under that contract and an allocation of
other costs directly related to fulfilling that contract.
Before a provision is established, the group recognises
any impairment loss on the assets associated with that
contract (see Note 2(n)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by
another party, a separate asset is recognised for any
expected reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of
the provision.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services in the ordinary course of the
Group’s business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue on a gross
basis, including the sale of electronic products
that are sourced externally. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an
agent, it considers whether it obtains control of
the products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group’s ability
to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of
the remaining benefits from the products.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Q) Sale of software systems

When the outcome of a service contract
can be reasonably measured, revenue
from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-
cost method, i.e., based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to
date to the estimated total costs.

When the outcome of the contract cannot
be reasonably measured, revenue s
recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

(ii)  Render of technical services

Revenue from the rendering of technical
services is recognised over time as the
services are provided. The stage of
completion for determining the amount of
revenue to recognise is assessed based on
work performed.

(iii)  Sale of products

Revenue is recognised when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the
products. If the products are a partial
fulfilment of a contract covering other
goods and/or services, then the amount of
revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price
under the contract, allocated between all
the goods and services promised under
the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

v)

Revenue and other income (Continued)
(iv)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. In calculating
interest income, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset (when the asset is not credit-
impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired,
subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is
no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts to
the gross basis.

(w) Government grant

(x)

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised
as deferred income and consequently recognised
in profit or loss over the useful life of the related
asset.

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of
transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate at the
reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured based on
historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations
Group’s
presentation currency, at the exchange rates at

are translated into RMB, the

the reporting date.

The income and expenses of foreign operations
Group’s
presentation currency, at the exchange rates at

are translated into RMB, the

the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in

OCl and accumulated in the exchange reserve.

(y) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.
Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period

in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(z) Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(a)

(b)

(c)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the

Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (i);

a person identified in (i)(a) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that individual in
their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(aa)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RAF5 SRR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

3.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting

policies,

management has made the following

accounting judgements.

(@)

(b)

Service contracts

As explained in Notes 2(n) and 2(v)(i), revenue
recognition on an uncompleted service project is
dependent on estimating the total outcome of
the service contract, as well as the work done to
date. Based on the Group’s recent experience
and the nature of the service activity undertaken
by the Group, the Group makes estimates of the
point at which it considers the work is sufficiently
advanced such that the costs to complete and
revenue can be reliably estimated. As a result,
until this point is reached the amounts due from
customers for contract work as disclosed in Note
16 will not include profit which the Group may
eventually realise from the work done to date. In
addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost
or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting year, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

The impairment provisions for trade receivables
and contract assets based on assumptions about
the expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history,
existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. For details of the key assumptions and
inputs used, see Note 27(a). Changes in these
assumptions and estimations could materially
affect the result of the assessment and it may be
necessary to make additional impairment charge
to the profit or loss.

(c) Provision for inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net
realisable value. Management estimates the net
realisable value based on the current market
condition and historical experience of similar
nature. Any change in the assumptions would
increase or decrease the amount of inventories
write-down or the related reversals of write-
downs and affect the Group’s net asset value.
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
inventories at each reporting period end date to
determine whether the inventories are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

3.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

()

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment, and
intangible asset may not be recoverable, the
asset may be considered “impaired”, and an
impairment loss may be recognised in accordance
with accounting policy for impairment of
property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets as described in Note 2(l)(ii). These assets
are tested for impairment periodically or
whenever the events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their recorded carrying amounts
may not be recoverable.

When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
determining the value in use, expected future
cash flows generated by the asset are discounted
to their present value, which requires significant
judgement relating to the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions and
projections of the level of revenue and amount
of operating costs. Changes in these estimates
could have a significant impact on the
recoverable amount of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal
of impairment in future years.

Income tax

The Group calculates current taxation based on
the taxable income for the year using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting year, and after taking into
consideration whether the Group has satisfied
the conditions as stipulated in the tax rules and
regulations which may result in the Group be
able to enjoy certain preferential tax rates and
tax allowable deductions. Such preferential tax
rates and tax allowable deductions are subject to
the approvals by the relevant tax authorities in
the following fiscal year. Actual current taxation
maybe higher or lower than estimated at the end
of the reporting year.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(@) Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the design,
implementation, enhancement and upgrades of
software and solutions and the provision of
technical services for power grid and distribution
companies in the PRC and the sale of products.
Further details regarding the Group’s principal
activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers within the scope of IFRS 15
by major service lines is as follows:

4.

N Fe SR o
(@ WA

ASER I E B 2 B A KL
NEEGE S BT BT TR
LSRR TT 5 BT RS, A
SHARAE M. A B A B P 2R Y
e 2D RGN REA (o) H5 R -

() #A#A

7E B e At HERI SR 15
SR E N E BRI R &

Sale of software and solutions SHER IR A K R T &
Provision of technical services ROt %
Sale of products FHEEE

Revenue from customers with whom
transactions have exceeded 10% of the
Group’s revenue are set out below:

RIS B3
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥%F ANR¥ETF 0
177,061 94,018
280,587 290,120
32,904 65,723
490,552 449,861

A& 5y FAAL A BN 10%
DOy S NG 71

Customer A ZFA
Customer B %F B
Customer C BFC

Details of concentration of credit risk arising
from the customers are set out in Note 27(a).
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

4,

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(@) Revenue

(ii) Revenue expected to be recognised in the

future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting
date

The Group has applied the practical
expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 to its
contracts for revenue from sale of software
and solutions, provision of technical
services and sale of products such that the
financial information does not include
information about revenue, that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the
remaining performance obligations under
the contracts had an original expected
duration of one year or less.

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by
business lines. In a manner consistent with
the way in which the information s
reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three reportable
segments. No operating segments have
been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments:

- Software and solutions: this segment
engages in the design, implementation,
enhancement and upgrades of software
systems for power grid and distribution
companies.

- Technical services: this segment engages

in the provision of maintenance services
on the software systems sold.

- Products: this segment sells software
systems related hardware and spare parts.
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(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

4,

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources
between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitor the results
attributable to each reportable segment on
the following basis:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to
revenue generated by those segments and
the expenses incurred by those segments.
The measure used for reporting segment
profit is gross profit. In addition to receiving
segment information concerning gross profit,
management is provided with segment
information concerning inter segment sales.
Inter-segment sales are priced with
reference to prices charged to external
parties for similar orders. The Group’s other
income and expense items, such as other
income, selling expenses, administrative
and other operating expenses, and assets
and liabilities, including the sharing of
technical know-how, are not measured
under individual segments. Accordingly,
neither information on segment assets and
liabilities nor information concerning capital
expenditure, interest income and interest
expenses is presented.
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(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

Information regarding the Group’s
reportable segments as provided to the
Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the

4. WARDEERE

(b) A#HE FD
() #mXs. BERAM

#

B ZE 20244 1 20234F3 A
31H IRE R IR T AL
TSN B DL B & I BT
o R B A S T FT F R4

gl D B B
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 is set SRS
out below.
2024
Sale of software Provision of Sale of
and solutions  technical services products Total
SHE R R
iE 3 RAHAT RS EER At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
- - - A
ARNFE  ARMER  ARNER  hD
Disaggregated by T NTER )
timing of revenue recognition I i 7
- Over time - B[] 177,061 280,587 - 457,648
- Point in time Y - - 32,904 32,904
Revenue from external customers KAIMBE PN
and reportable segment revenue ST RN 177,061 280,587 32,904 490,552
Reportable segment gross profit AR ER 33,858 39,316 3,904 77,078
2023
Sale of software Provision of Sale of
and solutions  technical services products Total
SHERA KRR
VES RABATRE HEER st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARSFE  AR®FE  ARMER D
Disaggregated by LN
timing of revenue recognition K5 1] 8103
- Over time - BB 94,018 290,120 384,138
- Point in time o S ik - - 65723 65723
Revenue from external customers R EINRE P
and reportable segment revenue POEE Gl gN 94,018 290,120 65723 449,861
Reportable segment gross profit AR ER 24,157 62,205 8517 94,879
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

4. WARDEERE
(b) AEHE D

Reconciliations of reportable segment
results to consolidated profit before

taxation

(i) AHEEA HEREIRE BB
BT s R 214

Segment results
Other income
Selling expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses
Impairment losses on trade receivables,
contract assets and other receivables

Finance costs

Share of profits of an associate

Consolidated profit before taxation

Geographic information

All the Group’s operations are carried
out and the Group’s customers are
located in the PRC. The Group’s non-
current assets, including property,
plant and equipment and intangible
assets are all located or allocated to
operations located in the PRC.

Iy R SEA
HAbHN
S5 A
ATBUR HoAth 42 #

H o O A TR E At

TSR I S 1R
il B A
JEAL — [l it 24 =] i A

for By BRASE AT A
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77,078 94,879
2,173 6,092
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(3,832) (2,592)
9 36
8,436 34,015
(iil) Ao &H
AL H T AT 265 MR

B A R AR
MARRENE A (RS, K
i Kt A ST 2 ) S
R LT VE T E S
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RAF5 IR R EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAA RSN, BLARMFIR)

5. OTHERINCOME

5. HAnkA

Additional deduction of VAT (Note (i)

S E RN IR AL ()
IR R (A ()

Refund of VAT (Note (ii))

Others Hofth
Note:

0] According to the announcement issued by the

(i)

relevant government and tax authorities
(Announcement [2019] No.39 of Ministry of
Finance, State Taxation Administration, and
General Administration of Customs), entities
engage in production and living services,
including software service, are entitled to a
10% additional deduction of VAT input to
offset the tax payable from 1 April 2019 to 31
December 2021. And according to
Announcement [2011] No.11 of Ministry of
Finance and State Taxation Administration,
the implementation for the above 10%
additional deduction policy is extended to 31
December 2023. At the same time, according
to Announcement [2023] No.1 of Ministry of
Finance and State Taxation Administration,
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023,
the deduction rate of input VAT is 5%.

Pursuant to the tax rules and regulations in
the PRC, entities engage in the sale of self-
developed software in the PRC and pay VAT at
a rate of 13% entitled to a VAT refund to the
extent of the VAT payable in excess of 3% of
the self-developed software sold.
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2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥ET 0
985 4,228

962 1,220

226 644

2,173 6,092

B

(i) MREIBER. EFRMGLER. HRHEEE
FMAY (HEBGE. ERBHEE. B
B A 12019]395% ) , BE H 20194F4
A1H%E20214F12A31H, Ak, £
TEPE IR S ELFR IR IR S S A N I TR
J1 AT 1 3 TE R B D ST 10% K 8 JE AN AR
B WMBUBGE. BEXRBERBAS
[2022)11%8, FiEbL AR . A iEPE RS
SESBERINFTHGIRIBUR ST B 4E = 422022
H12H31H. [FRE, MRIBIAEGEE. HEH
WHHE R A 5120231195, HUE 202341 H
1H %2023 1231 H, HEBINTH AL
R E5%,

(1) AR5 P B R SE L, A SEAE T B B T B
B B SR, $13% M AR R S E
R, 5 R A 5 AR 3 39 1Y) 8 el 1 52 32 1
BB
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(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

6.

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6.  BRERTEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: FR A A A AN ER T 51 % TH:
(@) Staff costs” (a) BImA*
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ANR¥T T
Salaries, wages and other benefits i, L& M IHARAE R 92,910 97,765
Contributions to defined contribution Ii] 55 A IR AR
retirement scheme FhE R 6,935 6,325
99,845 104,090
The employees of the subsidiaries of the AAEBE P N RILABRR LK) T
Group established in the PRC participate in NFEIRE T 28 i B RS
a defined contribution retirement benefit 5L A HOR KR RS 8. B

scheme managed by the local government
authority, whereby these subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the scheme at a

B, REEEME A T AT R B AR
4:14%-16% 1) b 2R [m) 5% 51 &) L K,

rate of 14%-16% of the employees’ basic a2 S BB 2 W I Jie B REAE L IR
salaries. Employees of these subsidiaries BIRFEE A L IRIR ARG # P ES R
are entitled to retirement benefits, RIER], ZREF T T &K
calculated based on a percentage of the S E S e E .,

average salaries level in the PRC, from the
above-mentioned retirement scheme at
their normal retirement age.

The Group has no further obligation for B LR gk oh, AL M S
payment of other retirement benefits A HARBRAE R 3 — 5 H AT .

beyond the above contributions.
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(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION(Continued)

(b) Otheritems

6. BRBATEA (D
HAhIEH

(b)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT NG i
Depreciation and amortisation” (Notes 11 T8 J ksl (474 11 &
and 12) 12) 7,530 12,268
Impairment loss on trade receivables, B o ENGHRIE, & RE E &
contract assets and other receivables oAt R K T R s 45
(Note 16, Note 17 and Note 18) Wzt 16, 17 X 18) 11,894 9,493
Operating lease charges in respect of A =BT
office premises KEFE 2,433 1,124
Auditors’ remuneration: K2 SR 4 -
- audit services - W 2,940 2,940
Research and development costs TFF 5 AN
(other than amortisation) (SERRAM) 24,510 29,912
Outsourced labour cost? AN A" 346,409 193,771
Cost of inventories sold” (Note 15) CAEF B RA" (AT 15) 412,283 354,132
# Cost of inventories sold include # C A A7 B A I o) €045 45 B

B LA AN A B
VEIEWSE ¥ Rl NI
378,630,000 JC (2023 & : A
L % 278,344,000 7C) , £ [
&R INEF N b ST BB T 6(a)
o B JH % S5 K0 0 B S 43 il R
& PR A B H AR .

RMB378,630,000 (2023: RMB278,344,000)
relating to staff costs, outsourced labour
cost, and depreciation and amortisation,
respectively, which amounts are also
included in the respective total amounts
disclosed separately above or in Note 6(a)
for each of these types of expenses.
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(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

7.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 7.

PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit

(b)

or loss represent:

Current tax - PRC Corporate
Income Tax (Note 24(a))
- Provision for the period

- (Over)/under provision in respect of prior years -

Deferred Tax (Note 24(b))
- Origination and reversal of temporary
differences

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

B SIARIE — rh A 3¢
B8 B (5 24(a))
- IR

IRIERIR (HaE 24(b))
- RS N A R AR R

LATERE GREBRS ) /B

AR A HEAR AR PTER

(a) ARBIRIMRNHIBIA

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T PR
2,277 3,390

- (135)

(2,198) (1,810)

79 1,445

(b) CEERBREHHRIEMX

Profit before taxation

Expected tax on profit before taxation,
calculated at the rates applicable in the
jurisdictions concerned (Notes (i), (i) and
(iii)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

Tax effect of non-taxable income

- Share of profits of an associate

Tax effect on bonus deduction of
research and development costs (Note (iv))

Effect of tax losses not recognised

Effect of using the deductible losses for which
no deferred tax asset was recognised in
previous years

Tax concessions (Note (v))

Actual tax expense

A2 i )

o 50 T R ) TR AR I,
Yo A (o8] ) R T 3 R 1 i R A
REIE(H ) (i) A(iii))
ANTTHEFIBH S o TE R 4
THARRINN RS 5 2
- AR A F R
HF3E A IR
FRIH S B (M A1)
R S5 T R
17 A DA R 4F 5 AT 7R
B S JT AR5 P (1 T HE 1
T $E (1 2
FLIH B (M7 (V)

B 5 A 2 F ) SR -
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT NG
8,436 34,015
2,413 8,796
371 569
(2) (9)
(2) (9)
(5,044) (4,964)
2,483 951
- (1,770)
(142) (2,128)
79 1,445

TEFRARIHBA 32
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7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime of
the subsidiaries of the Group incorporated
in Hong Kong is applicable from the year of
assessment 2019/20 onwards. The profits
tax rate for the first Hong Kong Dollars
(“HKS”) 2,000,000 of profits of corporations
will be lowered to 8.25%, and profits above
that amount will continue to be subject to
the tax rate of 16.5%.

The Company and the subsidiaries of the
Group incorporated outside of Hong Kong
and the PRC are not subject to any income
tax pursuant to the rules and regulations of
their respective countries of incorporation.

The subsidiaries of the Group established in
the PRC are subject to the PRC Corporate
Income Tax rate of 25% for the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: 25%).

According to the relevant tax rules in the
PRC, qualified research and development
expenditures, are allowed for bonus
deduction for income tax purpose, i.e. an
additional 100% of such expenditures is
deemed to be deductible expenses.

The subsidiaries of the Group established in
the PRC, Along Grid (k5% % WA i B} 56 R
y7]) and Aipu Zhicheng (Jb 5T 33 25 Ik 49
4% Bl $: 5 IR 4 &), have obtained an
approval from the tax bureau to be taxed as
enterprises with advanced and new
technologies, and therefore enjoy a
preferential PRC Corporate Income Tax rate
of 15% for the period from 18 October 2022
to 17 October 2025.
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7.

AREHEERNKTER (8D

(b) BIERARBFTERNRIER
BEFHER 2 MM SR (&

Bt :

(i) AR L A R M AR ST PR B

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

NGB E- § TR IECY o ST
2019/20 R AL PSR F . 6
gt C [#Jc5] ) 2,000,000
LR R SRR R e N
28.25%, 1M HH I 5% B I
TP P A4 480 P 16.5% AR K

PR B R L P 7 B 5K
(RIALR KA, A AR e ASE
(97> 7 65 o B S5 A i e
BT A 7], BRI
[ELEE S

B ZE 2024331 H I,

A EE B A H [ s 7 1 B A
JEHZ 25% A0 R A An [ A 3
FRfRR (2023%F: 25%) .

MR BB RAL, &8
AT 5% B SOREHE P AR TR0
P, B B BA SR A
1009%F 1 FTHRANBA ST «

A B A A 3 Rl ST [T B B A
(BP Ak 2 B A B B A R A
E AL S I AR A R A
PR A ) O R3S Je A 2%
AT AR JEARANFRIH, ST
2022410 A 18 H £ 20254F 10
H 17 H HIH =45 15% 10 7 3 4
EFSERIEEBE.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(RS EEEWA, BIARHEFIR)
8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EEHE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section W (BB ATIRH) #383()1EK (4

383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and s o e e e N
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information Al CRERECSRI R R BB B2

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows: i L

2024
Salaries, Retirement
Directors’ fees allowances and scheme
benefits in-kind contributions
> ¥ /E » 2
ke TS mtmk
ANRHET T ANREFIT NG ST
Executive Directors PITESR
Mr WANG Dongbin F AR A 326 470 58 854
Mr WU Hongyuan St e 109 736 64 909
Mr LI Kangying R 326 450 - 776
Mr WU Zhanjiang SRS 109 670 58 837
INEDs BT ES
Mr NG Kong Fat CSin Ly s 109 - - 109
Mr HAN Bin WA 109 - . 109
Mr WANG Peng FMESA 109 - - 109
1,197 2,326 180 3,703
2023
Directors’ fees and benefits in-kind heme contributions Total
wFHS %ﬁégﬁg SEAEHB R s
PN T NG T NG T NG T
Executive Directors HITER
Mr WANG Dongbin TR A 315 467 57 839
Mr WU Hongyuan St e 105 720 59 884
Mr LI Kangying EHLH A 315 450 - 765
Mr WU Zhanjiang ST A 105 661 57 823
INEDs B ERITESF
Mr NG Kong Fat St 105 - - 105
Mr HAN Bin FEW AR 105 - - 105
Mr WANG Peng T 105 - - 105

1,155 2,298 173 3,626
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8.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors during the years as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. There was no arrangement under which a
director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
[one](?) (2023: two) are directors whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining highest paid
individuals are as follows:

8. HEHFHM (B

ACEE BRSSO R, A
ZW 51 FE N S S A [ 0 £ 37 1
PR SEN, B R R
TBCEEAE T I ) 22 -

9. ERFMAL

T e B L AL (20234 W
By HERIFH O A8 EE . iR T
i i TN L e T AR T

Salaries and other emoluments Wi 4 S A N
Retirement scheme contributions BARGT FILE K

The emoluments of the individuals who are not
directors and who are amongst the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are within the following band:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TG AR¥TT
3,535 2,437

256 176

3,791 2,613

AP H A A T i B
b PRI e R

2024 2023
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
Remuneration Bands g 4 53 AL AN
HKD nil to HKD1,000,000 Fsoo ( [#78] ) £ 1,000,000 T 3 3
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 ¥ G4 1,500,000 #7C 1 -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to these
individuals during the year as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI AREISL, ARSI

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE 10. EBRER
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) FREAEF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on 20243 H 31 H 1L F I R FEA
the profit attributable to the equity shareholders of 5 R 41 A N ) RE 25 I B AL R R

the Company of RMB8,357,000 (2023: RMB32,570,000)
and the weighted average of 495,415,177 ordinary
shares (2023: 495,415,177 ordinary shares) in issue

[.#8,357,00070(20234F : i Al A S
32,570,0007C) J T 9547 38 % i~ 23

during the year ended 31 March 2024. #495,415,177 % (20234F : 495,415,177
JBe)st 5
The weighted average number of ordinary shares is 3 B R ST B T

calculated as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR 7T
Number of shares in issue at 1 April A4 A1 HRE#ITIREE 503,927,177 503,927,177
Effect of shares repurchased (Note25(d)) O 1B B0 B 52 28 (M 7 26(d)) (8,512,000) (8,512,000)
Weighted average number of shares in issue VAT I AR IR~ 495,415,177 495,415,177
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) EBHEEEF

No diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 HR A 45 AP AR (R,
March 2024 was presented as there were no potential K B A 202443 [ 31 H IR 4R FF (1) 4F

ordinary shares in existence during this year. TR ES .
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11. W, BB R

Motor vehicles,

office
equipment
and other Leasehold Right-of-use
equipment improvement assets Total
RHEL
AR
HoA MEBE EHEEE saGt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NG R NG R N R ANR¥T76
Cost: B
At 1 April 2022 h202F4H1H 1,920 25,139 1,504 28,563
Additions wE 146 - 1,998 2,144
Disposals A - - (742) (742)
At 31 March 2023 20233 H 31 H 2,066 25,139 2,760 29,965
Additions HE 357 - - 357
Disposals B E - - (763) (763)
At 31 March 2024 202443 H31 H 243 25139 1997 29,559
Less: Accumulated
depreciation: . RETIE:
At 31 March 2022 202243 31 H 1,345 4,923 981 7,249
Charge for the year R 291 1,028 622 1,941
Written back on disposals H A T [ - - (742) (742)
At 31 March 2023 202343 H31H 1,636 5,951 861 8,448
Charge for the year FNHX 237 1,028 765 2,030
Written back on disposals H A T [ - - (763) (763)
At 31 March 2024 #2024 %3 131 H 1873 6979 83 ¢ 9,715
Less: Impairment loss: W WEEE:
#2029 4H1H,
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 J% 2024 £ 3 A 31
2023 and 2024 H = 13618 -] 13,618
Net book value: MRS
At 31 March 2024 #2024 43 131 H 550 4,542 1,134 6,226
At 31 March 2023 202343 H 31 H 430 5,570 1,899 7,899
The leasehold improvement mainly represents that one FH B 00 T2 B 2 A A [ — [] B )8 A =) B P B o 4
of the Group’s subsidiaries has entered into an TEFIME BT B & 3T S a8 B2 HH 104E [ RB A
agreement with Committee on Economy and FARE. FZ 0B A B BT RS A CLPE AL B T JE A 2
Informatisation of Mentougou District to obtain the BT o

right of use of light poles for 10 years. The subsidiary
renovated the poles to provide smart city infrastructure
service.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12. |G E
Software and
patents
HR A 2 2R
RMB’000
ANR¥ET I
Cost: A
At 1 April 2022 #2024 4 H1H 101,218
Additions nE -
At 31 March 2023 A 2023423 31 H 101,218
Additions nE -
At 31 March 2024 Jt 2024 43 A 31 H 101,218
Less: Accumulated amortisation: B RETEsE:
At 1 April 2022 202244 H1H 59,638
Charge for the year FEINFISC 10,327
At 31 March 2023 22023 43 ] 31 H 69,965
Charge for the year FNEZ 5,500
At 31 March 2024 Jt 2024 43 A 31 H 75,465
Less: Impairment losses: B BIEEE:
At 1 April 2022, 202244 A1 H,
31 March 2023 and 2024 2023 K 2024 %3 A 31 H 2
Net book value: R T V3
At 31 March 2024 J2 2024 43 H 31 H 3,335
At 31 March 2023 JA 202343 H 31 H 8,835

As at 31 March 2024,
RMB797,000 (2023: RMB797,000)

intangible assets of
have been

A 20243 H31H, ML EFE AR ¥797,000
JG (20234F: A[R#797,00070) CHEAAEIL 5T

pledged to Beijing Haidian Sci-tech Enterprises
Financing Guarantee for bank borrowings to the
Group.

BRI A SR AR A IR A ], T AN

frako

The amortisation charges are included in “cost of
sales” in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss.

HESHPASCRE AR SRR [SHBRA] N,
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13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or
liabilities of the Group.

13. AIHB AR RHE

TREI|EELEA LG, BENA

RIS 2 7] 1

Proportion of ownership interest

JrFRERE 2 L %
Place and Particulars of
date of registered/ issued The Group's

Name of establishment/ and paid-up effective Held by the Held bya  Principal

subsidiaries incorporation capital interest Company subsidiary  activities
JROL /S M A /BT R AL — [l Ff

AT 4 LV MRBAHE SN AAARAE  ATHA  TEEH

Along Grid (L3t E The PRC RMB126,136,174 100% - 100% Design,

HmPHE IR A ) 25 May 2011 N implementation,
(Note (i) HiH 126,136,174 7t enhancement and
Jer B IR 011F5525H upgrades of software

HRAE (HEEG) systems and the
provision of technical
services and the sale
of products

et BaT. BRI
AR R 450 SR
TR LA B S 65

First Magic The British Virgin 1 share of 100% 100% Investment holding
International Limited Islands US$1 each e et d
(“First Magic”) 9 June 2015 1 MR

First Magic b yeids 1 ER
International Limited 20156 59H

( [First Magic] )

Citimax Development Hong Kong 1share 100% - 100% Investment holding
Limited (“Citimax 26 January 2016 1 Evazsiclie
Development”) RS

i B AT A 20161826 H

C IRk R )

Aipu Zhicheng The PRC RMB81,050,000 100% - 100% Investment,

(b5 R A %% 27 December 2013 NG construction and

RHARAR) i 81,050,000 JC operation of smart
(Note (ii)) 013F 12 F27H city infrastructure

AL A B
HIRAR HEE)
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13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

13. AHBARKEE (8D

Pl RERE 2 LU 22
Place and Particulars of
date of registered/ The Group’s
Name of establishment/ issued and effective Held by the Held by a  Principal
subsidiaries incorporation paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary  activities
Ak 2 AT
JROL/ R R B Y AAEH ) —[HI Bt
it 2 ) 44 7 Y=L BRI ATE HEEG  ANFEFR NEIFH  FEER
Great Progress The British 1 share of 100% 100% - Ihnve§tment
olding
International Limited Virgin Islands USS1 each ENa el
(“Great Progress”) 23 October 2018 1 PR A R T {E
TR B AR A ] IR SRS 1 ETH B
(Tt ) 2018 £ 10 H 23 H
’ Investment
Main Smart (H.K.) Hong Kong 1share 100% 100% holding
Limited 13 April 2016 1R gk
(“Main Smart”) it
e (i) 2016 £4 F 13 H
ARAE (T8 )
Mingan Zhicheng The PRC HKD20,000,000 100% 100% Inve%tment
holding
(ElER b 26 November 2018 20,000,000 7T PR
R ARAR) i
(Note (i) 2018 11 B 26 H
JE R R
AT (FERE)
Mingan Wulian The PRC RMB20,202,000 100% 100% Inve§tment
holding
(b3 B 22 4 5 December 2018 NN G- el
RHE AR AT P 20,202,000 ¢
(Note (i) 2018412851
U R
RN (BEEG)
Notes: B EE

(i) The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The
English name is for identification purpose only.

These entities

were

registered as

a wholly

(ii)

foreign-owned enterprise in the PRC.

The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The
English name is for identification purpose only.
These entities were registered as domestic
enterprise in the PRC.

142

() RETTHEM'E 7 % AR AP AR, SESC AR
EXP IR Sy vy S R S
ME AR,

(i) SRR T AR A SR, SO
FEAER . s BB 2 e B TR N

3.



Notes to the Financial Statements

RA 5 ER AR BT 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

14.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

14.

A —HBE A 7 i

143

The following is the particulars of the associate, which FERAZESNF R, HAdE
is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market e, mkEEHTES
price is not available: RIE:
The
Form of Place of Group’s
business establishment Particulars of effective Principal
Name of associate structure and business  paid-up capital interest activities
ES7 AL CaE  AEEIW
Wi A A 44 7 ZERETE A 487 Hh B AT EREHER BT
Beijing Beikong Limited Liability ~ PRC RMB16,400,020 36.59% Development of
Zhike Energy Company EE NRH smart city and
Internet Company HIRAH 16,400,020 JC energy internet
Limited# T R BRI M
Bt~ R RE 5 LI
HLIAEA PR A 7]
# English translation for identification only.
Summarised information of the associate: BB AT B RMEE.
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRETT AR T
Gross amounts of the associates BEARNMEEE
Current assets W& E 8,414 7,922
Non-current assets B G = 2,939 4,371
Current liabilities WmEA 3,011 3,976
Equity FE 25 8,342 8,317
Revenue 1Y ON 3,980 3,311
Profit from continuing operations FRAERL S RIS 25 129
Total comprehensive income A THI A 5 AR RH 25 129
Reconciled to the Group’s interests HAEBEEBZ AR TN
in the associates REZR BHER
Gross amounts of net assets of the
associate T A Bl (R e 8,342 8,317
Group’s effective interest R 1A BoR % 36.59% 36.59%
Group’s share of net assets of the
associate SR 5 A F AR 3,052 3,043
Others HAh 591 591
Carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements & A RE IO ERTHIE 3,643 3,634
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15. INVENTORIES AND CONTRACT COSTS 15. ZEREEFEA

2023 4E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tm NGB
Software systems under development  7EWFHRLE R %% 58,704 19,425
58,704 19,425
The analysis of the amounts of inventories TERR 29 B SCIIAE B S RE A T R
recognised as expenses is as follows:
| 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tm ANR¥ET I
Cost of inventories sold CEfEERAE 412.283 354132
Write-down of inventories and other B LG R
contract costs PR AE Ay - -
412,283 354,132
16. CONTRACT ASSETS 16. EREE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT NG T
Arising from performance under JEATE G
contracts with customers P 49,833 62,038
Less: loss allowance e PR 634 1,034
49,199 61,004
The amount of contract assets that is expected to #AE202443H31H, FEEHA —F1%
be recovered after more than one year is W 8] (A R & pE 4 RE R N RS ik
RMB617,800 at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: 617,80070(20234F3 H31H: AR
RMB2,165,000), all of which relates to retentions. 2,165,0007C), FT A i% %% 2K IE B (R 61
SII of the o'ijher. c;mtracts assets are expected to HIEAR . B oAb S R G e TE st
e recovered within one year. W ]

144



Notes to the Financial Statements

A4 35 ER R RE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 17. B 5 EWGEKIE R EWRE

2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ANRHET I8
Trade receivables A 5 ESGR I 484,264 406,239
Bills receivables JEWCEE 453 583
484,717 406,822
Less: loss allowance e MR 36,985 25,029
447,732 381,793
(@) Ageing analysis (a) ERESHHT
The ageing analysis of trade and bills AAE B 5 Ak T e JRE A S
receivables, based on the invoice date and P 9% 5 H W A0 Bk s R A
net of loss allowance, of the Group is as 1% RIS 7T an T
follows:
[ 202 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AT I8
Less than 1 year DA 4 361,805 356,576
1to 2 years —Z W 71,257 21,533
2 to 3 years [ 14,670 3,684
Over 3 years =R - _
447,732 381,793
The Group generally requires customers to AREH —FRERE FRESRE
settle progress billings and retention G TR 3 B AT S B I WAL A B
receivables in accordance with contracted IH, 25T % 5 ] w2k
terms. Credit terms of 90 days may be TEFE T 90K IS 51
granted to certain customers for progress
billings.
Further details on the Group’s credit policy HRAAEBEEBGELY D &
and credit risk arising from trade and bills U 25 BT R A A S R 1 3
receivable are set out in Note 27(a). — I EHE T EE27(a).
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18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. FEATEKIE. #& K IHAhEWKIE

| 200 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tm NGH
Amounts due from a related party JREVA B T 7 3 T 38 38
Prepayment for technical service fee Fi AR S5 B AT I 4,548 13,651
Staff advances and other deposits B ARG R HA 4 4,392 4,442
Prepayment for miscellaneous expenses FoAth B S FEA K TE 1,896 1,199
Others FoAth 1,146 799
12,020 20,129
Less: loss allowance e TR 2,811 2,473
9,209 17,656

All of other trade and other receivables are FT A EoAt 58 5 A H A JOE i 2 T T S i

expected to be recovered or recognised as A Py [ B S 2

expense within one year.
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW 19. BekBE&FEVMERHMESE
INFORMATION REEER
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) B&XkHE&LEEMAOSRE:
| 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETm ANR#F T
Cash at bank and on hand SRAT AL AR AN 4 4R 72,891 55,517
Less: restricted cash W BRI 4 10,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents SRAT AR A A B 4 62,891 55,517
The Group’s operations in the PRC are 7 A2 3] LE A I8 ) 2E % AN

conducted in RMB. RMB is not a freely
convertible currency and the remittance of
RMB out of the PRC is subject to the
relevant rules and regulations of the foreign

RWEST. NREIAT
EREERE NN P R
I (¥ & < 52 o B U AR A
(¥ & B A7 f1) AR [ 52 FU) D fek

exchange controls promulgated by the PRC
government.

BIFTHLFR -

A 2024E3H31H, Bl
As at 31 March 2024, RMB10,000,000 (31

N fid / /= 74N
March 2023: nil) of certificate of deposits éﬁgi?&i?ig%g
which has been pledged to Shanghai Pudon . ) TR
. 5 g AT HEHT AR # 10,000,000

Development Bank Co., Ltd. Beijing
Huizhong Sub branch for bank borrowings to
the Group.

J6 (20234E3H31H: %)
HIAfF ks, T AR

fE
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW 19. BEeRkREFEVMEHAFEREER

INFORMATION (Continued) (%)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b)  BUEIEENEL R A EBR.
activities:
The table below details changes in the Group’s T R ) A [ i A T E A ) A
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash EE), ARRe LAEREEE). ilE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from T A A A TEARE B LA B
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows MERSHAREEE ELEH SR E
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the MRS ERR KRR SR ENIEE &
Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash o

flows from financing activities.

Non - current
liabilities
-amount Net amount Net amount
duetoa due to related duetoa Lease
related party parties third party Bank loans liabilities
FEREERE- At —4
BN—%  EAEST  B=HFE

FETiRH PR BH BATRX AEAK . Eip

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TE ARBTz ARETn AR®BTzm AREFr AR%TE
(Note 23) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 24)
(H3E23) (MzE21) (Mz£22) (JfzE24)
At 1 April 2023 2023548 1H - 9,559 599 73,631 1,906 85,695

Changes from financing cash flows: RMERESRERE.

Proceeds from new borrowings B e 2,060 - - 139,375 - 141,435
Repayment of bank loans RIRRITE - - - (70,631) - (70,631)
Repayment of amount due to third parties 1 A} 55 = Jy 28

Capital element of lease rentals paid O S A - - - - (1,231) (1,231)
Interest element of lease rentals paid SRS - - - - (51) (51)
Interest paid EMFIE - - - (3,781) - (3,781)
Total changes from financing cash flows MENSRESHEH 200 - e 64,963  (1,282) 65741
Other Changes: HAngaa):

Interest expenses FIEBE - - - 3,781 51 3,832
Total other changes Hitgehasm 0 - - e 3788 51 3,832
At 31 March 2024 2024534 31H 2,060 9,559 599 142,375 675 155,268
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW
INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued):

19.

RERR (8D
(b) RERIEEIEAMAEBERE B .

HRekREFEMEIMBE

due to related duetoa Bank loans liabilities Total
JEfT—4
JEMBE R =R
THEHER # SATER HEARE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETE ARETT  AREKETET ARBET T
(Note 21) (Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 24)
(Hat20) (R0 (ME22) (Mfit2a)
At 1 April 2022 202244 1A 9,559 854 47,520 615 58,548
Changes from financing cash flows: MEFHENERE):
Proceeds from new borrowings Bt TR E A - 84,131 - 84,131
Repayment of bank loans EERIATER - (58,020) - (58,020)
Repayment of amount due to third parties {418 A4 = J5 7 TH - (255) - (255)
Capital element of lease rentals paid S EAR ST - (707) (707)
Interest element of lease rentals paid S SRS - (10) (10)
Interest paid wopil)s) - (2,582) - (2,582)
Total changes from financing cash flows R I 4R B B AR - (255) 23,529 (717) 22,557
Other Changes: Hh ).
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into 4F A %% 21 ¥r Al & 1
new leases during the period B E & 5 - 1,998 1,998
Interest expenses FRBH S - 2,582 10 2,592
Total other changes Hihgehem 0 - e 2582 2008 4,590
At 31 March 2023 #2023%E3H31H 9,559 599 73,631 1,906 85,695
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20. TRADE PAYABLES 20. EHEAMEIE

| 204 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tm NG
Trade payables to related parties JEAT BRI 5 1 2 2 K H 6,850 4,066
Trade payables to third parties JEATEE =5 I B 5 3k IH 145,082 132,616
151,932 136,682
All of the trade payables are expected to be B B 5 EA A IETE A — 4 N
settled within one year or are repayable on BB A BRI IR .
demand.
The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade AR B S 2 H A E 5 A 3K
payables, based on the invoice date, is as TEARES S tn T :
follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥%To ANR#F I
Less than 1 year DA 104,982 114,885
1to 2 years —ZEWAE 36,866 11,102
2 to 3 years [FE 8,264 9,333
Over 3 years =R 1,820 1,362
151,932 136,682
21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21, HAhEATKIA K &R B SC
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT NGH ST
Amounts due to related parties JEAST B8 55 5 T 9,569 9,559
Amounts due to a third party e H— % = TR A R 599 599
Other taxes payables HoAh EATFLIE 25,830 23,311
Payables for staff related costs B AR A A kIR 14,743 15,093
Lease liability (within 1 year) MEAM (LEND 675 1,229
Others oAb 7,695 8,304
59,111 58,095
Note: B 5E:
As at 31 March 2024, amounts due to a third JA20244E3 A31H, AT = )5 308
party are unsecured, interest-free and HEHCHT . AFEE R ER N
repayable within one year. 1
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22. BANK LOANS 22.  BITEK
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ANRHEF It
Within 1 year or on demand —AE N B
- Short-term bank loans, secured (Note (i) - FHIHERATE K, CHEIT(H7H) 132,455 68,500
- Short-term bank loans, unsecured - REISRATER, MR - 2,131
After 1 year but within 2 years —4EDLEPERLT
- Long-term bank loans, secured (Note (i) - KHIRITER, CHEE (M) 9,920 3,000
142,375 73,631
Notes: B 5T
(i) As at 31 March 2024, the secured short-term bank (i) JA202453A31H, SR IR

(i)

loans comprised the following:

- The bank loan of RMB5,000,000 is jointly
guaranteed by the executive Directors and
director’s spouse and Beijing Haidian Sci-tech
Enterprises Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd.;

- The bank loan of RMB10,000,000 is guaranteed
by the executive director and Beijing Yizhuang
International Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd,;

- The bank loan of RMB18,000,000 is guaranteed
by the executive directors;

- The bank loan of RMB11,255,000 is guaranteed
by the executive director;

- The bank loan of RMB41,000,000 is guaranteed
by the executive directors and director’s
spouse;

-  The bank loan RMB38,000,000 is guaranteed
by the executive directors and Beijing
Shouchuang Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd.;

- The bank loan of RMB9,200,000 is guaranteed
by deposit receipt.

As at 31 March 2024, the bank loan RMB9,920,000
is guaranteed by the executive director.
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(i)

ITRHBEWT:

- SRAT B K #5,000,000 G H
PATE . EFHEC LIt
TR A 3 Al 5 LR PR A
LS LR

- #RAT BN K ¥ 10,000,000 T
FH — 44 AT o g5 S A 3 7 3
SR R A TR

- BRAT BN K ¥ 18,000,000 T
2 23947 5 B

- BRATHR N K ¥ 11,255,000 T
HH— 22 94T 5 B

- BRAT RN K ¥ 41,000,000 7T
FH AT 2 R 2 S A B A

- BRAT RN K ¥ 38,000,000 T
H AT AL 5 AR A I
1R RA T B R A TR,

- AT B AR 9,200,000 7T HH
NGB -2 E iR

B E2024E3H31H, RITEKAN
& # 9,200,000 7C 1 ¥ 4T & 5 4
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23. Non-current liabilities 23.  IERINAMR
The non-current Iiabilities .of RMB2,060,000 were A7 Eh & 15 N %5 2,060,000 &
loans from the executive director. They were non- FEEBATIRE R, 2%
trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and RAEY HM. \IEM. & A5
will be settled in five years. B S IE AR YRS
24. LEASE LIABILITIES
24. FEHARE
The followi le sh h ini | .
aturitice of the Groups lease Tabilities as ot 31 AT AR 122024371 31
A A2 [ p A TS| %1 HAHY
TR
Present Present
value of the . .Total value of the . .Total
o minimum o minimum
minimum minimum
lease lease
3 ayments fetie ayments
payments pay payments pay
REHEE REHEE RIFFHE RIEFHE
RIERE RIEAAEE SIERE IBAERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR AREFT AREFTT
Within 1 year 19K 675 695 1,229 1,279
After 1 year but within 2 years 1AEAAE 2 4EIN - - 677 697
675 695 1,906 1976
Less: total future interest expenses  ¥i: A< 2 H LB 4R 20 70
Present value of lease liabilities MEAJHE 675 1,906
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25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 25. KREHMBHRILR NI TR
FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Income tax payable in the consolidated (@) #EEMBRIENKEAPT
statements of financial position represents: Bis.

| 202 ]| 2023

ARETT ANR#T T

At the beginning of the year TAFER] 21,579 18,628
Provision for the year and under provision in SEINFE KRR

respect of prior year (Note 7(a)) BHEARE (MiE 7)) 2,277 3,255

Income tax paid CAT BT AL 83 (304)

At the end of the year AR 23,939 21,579
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25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

FINANCIAL POSITION(Continued)

25. EEMBARURNEIFTAR (8

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) CRERBTERIFRENAR
(i) Movement of each component of () BEBRFRER R FHF
deferred tax assets and liabilities i i/
The deferred assets/(liabilities) TA K7 BB IR D0 A e RR T R
recognised in the consolidated statements SEMIEE E . (Bl MIAE
of financial position and the movements NS R .
during the years are as follows:
Capitalisation
of intangible Unrealised  Allowance for
assets and profits from receivables
subsequent sales within and Right-of-use Lease
amortisation the Group inventories assets liabilities Total
REEER  AEEWNH
AukRg BRERE ERRER
s Al REBM  GHEEE HEAR Ht
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE AR¥ETG  ARETT  ARETH ARETG  ARETG
RETHEIERY
Deferred tax arising from: RIERTE:
At 1 April 2022 #20224£4 H1H (1,957) 91 3,424 1,558
FA GE)
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated BAERR
statement of profit or loss (Note 7(a)) (Hit7(a) ) 747 (91) 1,157 (288) 285 1,810
At 31 March 2023 4202343 A31H (1210) 4581 (288) 285 3,368
At 1 April 2023 20234 1H (1,210 4,581 (288) 285 3,368
A Gnad
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated GAEnER
statement of profit or loss (Note 7(a)) (it 7(a) ) 405 1,860 117 (184) 2,198
At 31 March 2024 122024534311 (805) 6,441 (171) 101 5,566
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25.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION(Continued)

(b)

()

(d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated
statement of financial position

25. EEMBARURNEIFTAR (8

(b)

Net deferred tax assets

Net deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set
out in Note 2(t), as at 31 March 2024, the
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of unused tax losses and deductible
temporary differences of RMB121,430,000
(2023: RMB109,580,000), as the directors
considered it is not probable that sufficient
future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. At 31
March 2024, the Group had tax losses of
RMB83,359,000(2023: RMB77,019,000) arose
in Chinese Mainland that can be carried
forward to set off against future taxable
income which will expire within 1 to 10 years.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 March 2024, temporary differences
relating to the retained profits of the
subsidiary of the Group established in the PRC
amounted to RMB148,091,000 (2023:
RMB133,094,000) of which no deferred tax
liabilities in respect of the tax that would be
payable on the distribution of these profits
was provided as the Company controls the
dividend policy of this subsidiary and it has
been determined that it is probable that such
profits will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.
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R SEATH B E T E
TRSERTH £ A7 A

ERIBECMEREL AR
(#D

(i) BRI BRI ZBHE

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%Tn NG T
5,566 3,368

5,566 3,368

(€)

(d)

REERIBERIRE B -

WM EE 200 sl & atEcE, #
%2024 4E 3 J] 31 H, AMEM
SR AR Bl FH A 25 15 48 K AT 0 ek
Wy 2248 N R % 121,430,000 G
(2023 ££:109,580,000 JC )Mt 7R IE
SERRIE G E, R o 5 R A B AR
W al VR R B R AN T B
Fo A A 2 SRR I R HE B ] {8
s, #8E 2024 £ 3 H 31
H, ASEE B R 954 A
U N R 83,359,000 G
(2023 4 : A I # 77,019,000
JC), AIEEEHKIE AR 1 & 10 4F
N B IR EAARL T 1S4 . TR
AR A A T FERE, AR
TR SEF T B

REEDBIRIER IR E AR

2024 453 A 31 H, HRAL
IS8 > o ST PR B B D AR AR B
T RV IR 2 R A N RS
148,091,000 75(2023 4F: A RHK
133,094,000 JC). HIAAN
HRZ I8 A F R S BOE, Hi
2 T REIA T R AR A & 43R
BRAEF, Sl Mk R B
I JE A P B8 T R 0 S AL T 4
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26. A, REEEE
(&) Movements in components of equity () FEmMABE
The reconciliation between the opening and A [ i R 2 45 TRV ) B R A 2
closing balances of each component of the HE# 7| N e S HE R SR,

Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Details of the changes of the Company’s A ) JECHEA 0 I A S BRI s
individual components of equity are set out T
below:
Shares held
under share
Share Share award Exchange
capital premium scheme reserve  Retained loss Total equity
TR 4 88
Boat Bl
B Je i fH A E S AitiBE HEREE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETE  ARETFT  ARETE  ARMTT  ARETE  ARETL

(Note 26(c))  (Note 26(f)(i) (Note 26(d))  (Note 26(f)iii))

(fek2e(c) _ (HE26(1)i) (Fat26(d) (HyE26(f)iii)
ALL April 2022 RaofFafal 4130 wrol7_(4A) G215 (5671 | 137836
Changes in equity for the year ended 31 BZ02%3A31AE
March 2023: FEEDSE.
Total comprehensive income for the year ENATINGERE - - - 10,945 (55) 10,890
At 31 March 2023 *20233H31H 4,130 147,017 (4,425) 7,730 (5,726) 148,726
Changes in equity for the year ended 31 20244331 IE
March 2024: FEERSE).
Total comprehensive income for the year EALEfE - - e 520 (9 5281
At 31 March 2024 202443311 4,130 147,017 (4,425) 13,020 (5,735) 154,007
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued) 26. A, i RRE (8
(b) Dividends (b) A

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of () FABENEAL FERRREE

the Company attributable to the year

4 2024 4F J; 2023 ©E 3 H 31
HIFEE, KAREFLAE

The directors of the Company do not
recommend the payment of a dividend for the

years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. RIRAHR S
(c) Share capital (c) Be&
Movements in the Company’s issued share capital AANF CHEATRASE T

are as follows:

Number of Nominal value of
shares ordinary shares
:3vg ¢ LiEREE
RMB’000
NS
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: & %47 R &UE W@k
At 31 March 2024 and 2023 JA 2024 J2 2023 4£3 H 31 H 503,927,177 4,130
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26.  CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued) 26. kA&, REERE (B
(d) Purchase of own shares (d) BEBSBMH
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Company had & 2024 &\2023 EE 3¢H 31
cumulatively repurchased 9,848,000 shares on The Ho A m) s & & 28 5 i
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and paid HIRA A K5 9,848,000
RMB4,874,000. 1,336,000 shares were JBefety, ST NIRE 4,874,000
cumulatively cancelled and an amount of Jo. REPREEH 1,336,000 A%,
RMB449,000 was paid. ST ER AR 449,000 T

Price per share

Number of shares _ﬁ}&%{% Aggregate

Month of repurchase  BELE £ repurchased Highest Lowest price paid
BERHEHE -4 Eft4E%

HKD RMB’000

August 2018 2018 £ 8 A 1,360,000 0.7473 0.7155 867
September 2018 2018 £ 9 H 1,400,000 0.7127 0.7080 871
October 2018 2018 F£ 10 B 144,000 0.5311 0.5311 69
November 2018 2018 £ 11 B 1,652,000 0.5700 0.5300 820
August 2019 2019 F 8 A 2,700,000 0.5100 0.4976 1,228
September 2019 20199 H 1,256,000 0.5000 0.4845 569
October 2019 2019 F 10 B 52,000 0.5100 0.4950 23
December 2019 2019 F 12 B 116,000 0.4900 0.4800 51
January 2020 20201 A 20,000 0.4850 0.4750 9
March 2020 20203 B 1,148,000 0.3700 0.3300 367
9,848,000 4,874

Aggregate

Number of shares cancelled price paid

Month of cancellation AR EEic) v dne (4= B4 EE
RMB’000

AR® T

November 2019 2019 F 11 B 52,000 23
April 2020 2020 £ 4 A 208,000 82
May 2020 20205 B 1,076,000 344
1,336,000 449
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(e) Share award scheme

On 24 July 2018, the Company adopted a share
award scheme (the “Scheme”) with a duration of
ten years. The aggregate number of the shares
underlying all grants made during the term of the
Scheme is limited to 3% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time. The Board will
be entitled to make an award to any of the eligible
participant such number of issued shares as the
Board shall determine pursuant to the Scheme
rules. The eligibility of any of the eligible
participants to an award shall be determined by
the Board from time to time on the basis of the
Board’s opinion as to his/her contribution and/or
future contribution to the development and
growth of the Group. At the year ended 31 March
2024, 8,512,000 shares were cumulatively net
repurchased from the market for share award
scheme. And no share was granted to any eligible
participant.
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account
is governed by Section 34 of the Companies
Law Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated

and revised) of the Cayman Islands
amended,
modified from time to time.

(if) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
subsidiary
established in Mainland China is required to
transfer 10% of its net profit to the statutory
reserves until the reserve reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distributions to equity
holders. This reserve can be utilised in setting
off accumulated losses or increase capital of
the subsidiary and is non-distributable other

regulations, the Company’s

than in liquidation.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign

exchange differences arising from

translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies set

out in Note 2(x).
Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when
managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholders
returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position.

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries is
subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 27. EREMEE LSBT ANAE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AR SRR i A5 B M B ¥ &
JEUE . AR R )2 R B S A S
A T JEL I 4 S 5 DL ERBOR S AR B0 T

Exposure to credit and liquidity risks arises in the normal
course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(@) Credit risk (@) EEEEE

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit
risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables,
contract assets and other receivables. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because cash at bank are
held with well-known financial institutions, for
which the Group considers to represent low credit
risk.

The Group does not provide any financial
guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in
which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. As at 31 March 2024, 26%
(2023: 21%) and 73% (2023: 66%) of the total trade
receivables and contract assets due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers, respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. For project contracts, the Group
generally requires customers to settle billings in
accordance with contracted terms, credit terms of
90 days may be granted to certain customers for
progress billings.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 27. ERABEEREMTANAE &)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) @ ERAR B
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BB EUKIERE FAIRE ()
The following table provides information about the AT R T B A 4L 15 BT T B )
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 15 B R VA M & 5 SO TE M &

receivables and contract assets: [A]3& 2 [ TR E Bkt B R

Loss allowance
For expected credit losses

EHERERNERER
2024

Gross Loss allowance
carrying Of individual Expected Loss Total loss
amount item loss rate allowance allowance

ERITEE A

IREAE BREE L] ik S

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR¥TT ARETT
Current (not past due) B (F@E) 378,010 - 1.90% 7,211 7,211
lessthan 1yearpastdue  WHPR—F 90,097 - 5.60% 5,033 5,033
1-2 years past due WH—-EWE 47,484 - 20.10% 9,533 9,533
2-3 years past due BEME=ZSF 11,701 995 77.20% 8,042 9,037
More than 3 years past due  HIHTEB=4 6,805 - 100.00% 6,805 6,805
534,097 995 36,624 37,619

Loss allowance
For expected credit losses

FHERERNERER

2023
Gross

carrying Loss allowance Expected Loss Total loss
amount Of individual item loss rate allowance allowance
ERER M BB
FREAAME EREE B ER BREE HERCE
RMB’000 RMB'000 % RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Current (not past due) BE (FaE) 321,372 - 2.00% 6,342 6,342
lessthan 1year pastdue  WHIDR—F 119,264 87 5.10% 6,034 6,121
1-2 years past due BH—-ZME 17,538 - 26.30% 4,620 4,620
2-3 years past due BEME=F 4,137 283 72.90% 2,731 3,014
More than 3 years past due HHER=F 5,966 - 100.00% 5,966 5,966
468,277 370 25,693 26,063
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 27. SRMEMREELEMTAENAFE (8
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(@) EEHEM (&)

(&) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) REERSRREEE (#)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss TR IR E 5 FEIE IR
experience over the past 5 years. These rates are HEEETH., LEHRE/EHA
adjusted to reflect differences between economic B D WA B 0 A ke T R 1
conditions during the period over which the AR R B FT AR = B R R
historic data has been collected, current conditions A [ A 0 g 5 T T ) A 4 ) 1 4%
and the Group’s view of economic conditions over TR 2 L

the expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect FN, ﬁ%ﬁff %EW%IEE@E%E
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: MRS B BT

| 20 2023

AR¥ T AT T

Balance at 1 April 74 B 1 HR&E R 26,063 17,210
Impairment losses reversed IR AL I 5 [ (11,963) (7,831)
Impairment losses recognised E N CUERR

during the year TRAE 4R 23,519 16,684
Balance at 31 March A3 A 31 Hp& 6 37,619 26,063

163



Notes to the Financial Statements

R 35 AR B 5E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(BRI A RIS, BLARWSIR)

27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The following table shows the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of each reporting
year of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on rates current at the end of each
reporting year) and the earliest dates the Group

can be required to pay:

27. SMBREEEEMTENAHE (8

(b) AEREE

AR B 5R )  H0 B R ) < R
WA, FEORMERF TS LB L
W EM BRI LA R RS, DR
FHREI SRR N B 4 7 K

NRBURASE I A ARRTE Rl A B AR
HERBRERSFEH, TiZOFTAR
BRI e (CBARMHIRTAIR 8 (fi
FHIF I TR AR () BRI R S
AUBSZHD S AT e 75 2T e 7
SP ISR

I s
Contractual
Contractual undiscounte
undiscounted More than d cash flow
cash flow I GTCRGET 2 years but Withinl ~ More than 1
Within 1year  year but less less Carrying yearoron  year but less Carrying
oron demand LUELPATET than 5 years amount demand  than2years Total amount
—ENEE — RN
ERMEET ZRMERT
HAREE HE—FE  EEREE MAMEER -4
SRE DRWE SRS E-Ei FRIE (& ShE WINIER At SRTmE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’002 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFL  ARETE ARETG ARETE  ARETG PNE SN S DNPN o v NG & v
Bank loans SRATEK 135,183 396 10,275 145,854 142,375 72,238 3,086.00 75,324 73,631
Trade payables B 5y A2 IE 151,932 - 151,932 151,932 136,682 - 136,682 136,682
HAb SR IE
Other payables and JeJEETB
accruals (Including lease  (fI3E—4E N 59,131 59,131 59,111 58,165 - 58,165 58,095
liabilities within 1 year) S E
=16
Lease liabilities & A 696 696 677
346,246 396 10,275 356,917 353,418 267,085 3,782 270,867 269,085
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

()

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
primarily from bank loans is limited because bank
loans issued at fixed rates. The Group’s interest
rate profile as monitored by management is set
out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s borrowings at 31 March
2024 and 2023.

27. SHMBREERESMTANAE (8D

()

2R L iy

) 2 A — TH & TR A PE
R AR B < B R i 4 ) R
P B B . e R BRAT B K DAL 2
A IR, DA AR B 3 B 5 R
ITEFE A F R A IR . B EE
223 (1A S B R SR B DU B I R 3L
(i)o

() FERNH

TREERA 2024 4EF 2023 4E
3 H 31 HARLEEME MR Z G
e

Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRRFIR RMB’000 1 ilk RMB’000
% ARETT % ANR¥ET I
Fixed rate borrowings: B sE R ALK
e 2.200%"~ 2.200%~
4 2,
Bank loans SATEER 4.900% 142,375 4.600% 73,631
. NI f5 2
(d) Fair value measurement (d) AFEETE

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 March 2024 and 2023.
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28. ERMBHRS
(2) Key management personnel remuneration (@) FEEE AN B FHH
Remuneration for key management personnel of ZIK%%%E%@A%&%@H@‘EE
the Group, including amounts paid to the ﬁf‘EAE%% (ﬁfwﬁ Sj&%)
Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 8 and &EJFWI%%HEE (MEE 9 #
certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed #&) PIEIH, #EWT:

in Note 9, is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® 0 AR T I0
Short-term employee benefits Je 310 AR 4,350 4,166
Contributions to defined contribution ] 5t LR AR
retirement scheme FHE R 262 255
4,612 4,421
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” PIAREAEt N [ B TR (M5
(Note 6(a)). 6(a))o
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EREBATHARZS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ANRET T

Sale of products PHAEEEE - 8

Provision of technical services B R A% - 47

Receiving of technical services Sz R 3,498 1,443

Provision of loans RALE R 2,060 -

Provision of rent deposit RAEHEN S 10 -
Guarantee jointly provided by the executive ~ $AAT H 3 X #H FH LA L[R2

directors and a director’s spouse HERIER 133,175 40,500
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(c) Balances with related party

(i) Trade receivable and prepayment and
other receivables comprised the following
balances due from related parties:

28.

BERWBARZS (8D
(c) SRBBTTRIAS &R

(1) BEHARSH R T3 LA A A
RS CTE T I BN B
T HIRE R

AR®TT NG
Trade payables(Note 20): G 5 AT 3K IA( S 7 20):
- Beijing Beikong Zhike Energy — bRt R R EI AN
Internet Company Limited HIRA A 6,850 4,066
Other receivables (Note 18): HAhESRGKIE (7 18) -
- Beijing Beikong Zhike Energy — bRt R R EL AN
Internet Company Limited HIRAH 38 38

(ii) oOther payables comprised the following

balances due from related parties:

(i) Rt SHFEEH FIIE
BT 7945 :

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT NG
Other payables (Note 21): H A EATRIE (HaE21) -
- Beijing Aige Reide Technology — b s Bl
Company Limited BHEA R A A 9,569 9,559
(iii) Non-current liabilities comprised the (i) FERBIBEH BT TS H
following balances due to related parties: B 468

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR NG

Non-current liabilities (Note 23): R AR B 23)
- the executive director BATES 2,060 -

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (d) EBRPREZT 57 B B T A R e A A
connected transactions 5]

None of the above related party transactions
falls under the definition of connected
connected

transaction or continuing

A _E IR BRI 22 5 1 & BRI 14A
) A8 5 B AR B A 5 E 2

transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.
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Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 26 June 2024.

WANG Dongbin

29. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 29. AW EBHEHMBARNR
POSITION
2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Fft 5 AR#ETu NS T
Non-current assets JERENE E
Investment in a subsidiary JA— TR B A~ R A 45,419 55,446
Amounts due from a subsidiary  JEUL— [ B & 2 5] 440 97,329 93,987
e M82)788 ] 149,433
Current assets MEEE
Cash at bank and on hand SRATANER L & 5,366 5,196
e 5366 ] 5,196
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables Hppefros 6107 5,903
Net assets B EBE 142,007 148,726
Capital and reserves A R it 26(a)
Share capital Jig A 4,130 4,130
Reserves i 137,877 144,596
Total equity WEDS ABAH 142,007 148,726

HEHEA 2024 5 6 A 26 HALHE R AZHET)

.

WU Hongyuan

FEHR St
Chairman Director
Y4 HF
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30.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 March 2024, the directors consider the immediate
parents of the Group to be Union Sino Holdings Limited,
Long Eagle International Limited, Main Wealth
Development Limited, Smart East Limited and Great
Attain International Limited which are incorporated in
the BVI. These entities do not produce financial
statements available for public use. The directors
consider the ultimate holding parties of the Group to be
Mr Wu Zhanjiang, Mr Cao Mingda, Mr Li Kangying and
Mr Wang Dongbin.
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31.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
MARCH 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the IASB has issued a number of amendments, and a
new standard, IFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

31. #ZFE20244E3H31HIEEE S EME

WARERHERT . FreRl KR
REFE

BEZEM BRI R H Y, B et
R g LR M ORI AT K — TR R,
BB A ks g Rt ISR 17 SRARFR &
K, RESEIBET JORTYERIIEE 2024 4 3 A
31 H bR BT AR AR RIS R AE 52 55 I B ik
KPR, 2SR RAIE T A RS AL
EV R

Effective for
accounting years
beginning on or after

UL H sz 12
B4R & 4 B AR Ak

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements: Classification of liabilities as current or BREar st e R EE 1 9RIMBRT, P iERE) 1January 2024
non-current (“2020 amendments”) R IB) L TF TR B) B E 1T 787 (12020 FAEFT7) 2024F1 A1 H

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements: Non-current liabilities with covenants B at MERNEE 1 9RMBRT, iR#% T 1 January 2024
(“2022 amendments”) A FAIHI B B 15 (2022 FEA55T7) 2024F1 A1 H
Amendments to IFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and BRI A s i ME R ZE 16 SRRIIBRT, EAH 1January 2024
Leaseback [E I B B 202418 1H

Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and IFRS B & st ERIEE 7 SERMERT, e EH A

7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance [ R R 7 95, i LA 1January 2024
arrangements B AL i i A 20241 H1H
Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign — BIFS €I HERNS 21 SEMEBE], SFME IE %45 1 January 2025
exchange rates: Lack of exchangeability B e = ] i A 20051 H1H

Amendments to IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial
Statements and IAS 28, Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures, Sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture

I 5 A 75 s o MR FUU B 10 SN gt HE R
5 28 SRMMER], B A ST 2
PN T B PE i B T i

To be determined

R

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Financial Summary

BB RE

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi, except for per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss (Note 1)

R E TS
(BEREEsS, FASENNARSTTAEN)

FEBEER (k)

For the year ended 31 March
HE=A=1T—HIFE

2020 2021 2022 2023 [EZA
Revenue LN 163,454 293,666 376,704 449,861 490,552
Profit/(loss) before taxation  FRFLATE ], () (67,857) 25,407 25,814 34,015 8,436
Income tax RS (1,311) (4,552) (3,793) (1,445) (79)
Profit/(loss) for the year TRE 2 2 o JEEA
attributable to equity ENRF,
shareholders (548D (69,168) 20,855 22,021 32,570 8,357
Earnings/(loss) per share BEF, &)
Basic and diluted FEA [ fi e
(RMB) (ANRED (13.88) 421 4.44 6.57 1.69
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Note 2) S EIRRE (FfEE2)
As at 31 March
MW=H=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 [EZZ
Total assets B R 263,317 363,694 433,976 559,131 656,505
Total liabilities A Ha 69,779 150,191 198,865 290,664 379,417
Net assets B E 193,538 213,503 235,110 268,467 277,088
Total equity TE 51 4855 193,538 213,503 235,110 268,467 277,088
Note 1: The results of operation for the years ended 31 MaE 1. BB, DR SR

March 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 are derived
from the Company’s annual reports of 2020,
2021, 2022 and 2023. All such information is

extracted from the financial

statements

prepared under the International Financial

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Note 2: The consolidated financial position as at 31
March 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 are derived
from the Company’s annual reports of 2020,
2021, 2022 and 2023. All such information is

extracted from the financial

statements

prepared under the International Financial

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
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Definitions

“Aipu Zhicheng”

[

“Along Grid”

[ 25 B R Hi |
“associate(s)”

Rl IN

“Beikong Energy Internet

”

b F2 eI L Hs |

“big data”

[ KW |
“Board”

[EHa ]

“business day”

[&3%H ]

“BVI”
[ )88 P LR

“CCBI Investments”

[ CCBI Investments |

B A R A 45 BB A IR A\ (Beijing Aipu Zhicheng Internet
Technology Company Limited*), an enterprise established in the PRC
with limited liability on 27 December 2013 and became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company on 28 February 2020

AR IS R IR AR, — 22013412 5 27 HAEH [
LA R AT, 1] 20194E2 1 28 H B A AR A W] (142 % I & 2 7

LB R A FR A ) (Beijing Along Grid Technology Company
Limited*), a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC
with limited liability on 25 May 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

FRAEHUE U IR EHA R A R], — 22011485 F 25 H 78 1 B L
SIEBEAAR AT, FAAE K2R E A

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

LAY b TR R R e %

btk 2 Bl e U B 494 IR & =] (Beijing Beikong Zhike Energy
Internet Company Limited*), an enterprise established in the PRC with
limited liability, an associate of the Group

faAb b R RER LA R AR, — A B R A R A F
T AR M S A F

refer to information that is huge in amount and volume, which make it
not possible to achieve data collection, management and processing
into data that is capable of being used in decision making in business
operation

TR B R R E R IE S, DASCIERREL . o B0 B P
TR P A SEACE VR I

the board of Directors of the Company

fER AT EHE

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for normal
banking business to the public and which is not a Saturday, Sunday or
public holiday in Hong Kong

FEA s ERAT — B A IEH RT3 I H 7, HARARENIN. &
A H A e A R

the British Virgin Islands
TR R R

CCBI Investments Limited, an investment holding company
incorporated with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman
Islands on 10 November 2004 and an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 939) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601939)

FECCBI Investments Limited, —[i]220044:11 H 10 H AR §E 5 2 8 51k
BFE AL B AR A TR AT, A i £ (AR

§5: 939) K BT URCEARES: 601939) Bl A

r ] R SR AT T A7 A B A T R T 4 4 S T B A )

172



Definitions
Ex

“Chance Talent”

[ Chance Talent |

“Companies Law” or “Cayman
Companies Law”

[ w3 Bl B 2 A =03

“Companies Ordinance”

NSRS N

“Company” or “the Company”

(A ]

“cSG”

[P 77 4 |
“Director(s)”

E=

“EIT”
[EEIEE

“VAT”
[ AR )

“Ubiquitous power loT”

[ A 5 71 Hs A |

Chance Talent Management Limited, a company incorporated in the
BVI on 4 July 2007 with limited liability, which was wholly-owned by
CCBI Investments as at the date of this report

$EChance Talent Management Limited, —[H 2200757 H4H fEJE)E &
LR SR L AR AT, JAARERY HHIHCCBI Investments 4
WA

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands

TR BH S BF S A B 55 22 % A AR (196 14F 3539575401, 4845 & JAERT)

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

R IVL ISR 622 B AN vl ik, AEARHERT . Ml e B Al 7 B ek

OneForce Holdings Limited (Jt 15 AR A &]), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 5 July 2016 as an exempted
company with limited liability

B HERERAR, —MR2016597 A5 HER 2 B 5t Ml or iy
TEER A PR 7]

7 [68] 7 7 B 494 PR & T/~ 7] (China Southern Power Grid Company
Limited), an Independent Third Party, a major state-owned cross-
provincial electric power grid company which is principally engaged in
electric power transmission
feh B T AR AT, ABIE=Tr, ~HEEEAERE
AT, EEE i T

the director(s) of the Company
EEN/AIR

enterprise income tax of the PRC

TR B A S TR

value-added tax

TRIG(EAR

is creating an intellectual service system with comprehensive state-
aware, efficient information processing, convenient and flexible
application by making full use of 5G technology, mobile Internet,
artificial intelligence and other new technologies in the entire power
system to realize the interconnection and human-computer interaction
of all aspects in the entire power system

BAREHE RKSREANISGHNT . BEIEBA. AN L6
HAbBr o akT, FEI ) RS BRET A B FE, AR H, 4iE
—EREE AT . AR R BUE . AR EEE BR A
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Definitions

“Founding Shareholders”

[ B30 B 3R )

»ou

“Group”, “our Group”,
llwell Or llusfl

[ A el 30 )

“HKS” or “Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars”

[#7e ]

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
[ Frits ]

“Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar”
[ VR JC A6 = 26 50 70 g
“IMPG”

[ A5 & T

“IMPG Group”

BRESuE Pk S

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

[ L5 =77 ]

“Inner Mongolia”

[

“internet of things” or “loT”

[ )

collectively, Smart East, Union Sino, Main Wealth, Long Eagle, Mr.
WANG Dong Bin, Mr. WU Zhan Jiang, Mr. LI Kang Ying and Mr. CAO
Wei

FESmart East. Union Sino. Main Wealth. Long Eagle. FHitsE2E.
SBRULSE A P e Sl s Je AR 1) S AR

the Company and its subsidiaries at the relevant time
FEA ) S LT A Rl P ] PR J 24 )

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
TRE L E BT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
$i o B A U R 791 4T B

Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
of the Company
BA ) T B IRy 368 P 6 5T 0 B AR RE IR B RO A PR A )

electric power grids covering Inner Mongolia, and managed by IMPG
Group, a state-owned provincial electric power grid in the PRC

TRER NSO IR, P BB A A AR P 5 TR ) AR

N R (EE) HIREEAT (Inner Mongolia Power (Group)
Company Limited*), an Independent Third Party, a state-owned
provincial electric power grid company, together with its subsidiaries, is
principally engaged in the electric power transmission, transformation
and distribution in the west Inner Mongolia

TBNS BN CRBDE RN, ABILE=T7, —HBEEEHE
FAT], HE[E AT EEANS L HWE . S E R EER

a person, persons, company or companies which is or are independent
of, and not connected with (within the meaning under the Listing
Rules), any directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective associate(s)
TR LA A A T BHAT A B A R AT . F AT IO B 2
JER B 55 & AR TN, HBR R N LM B CGE 8 /L BT
FLRDI A LA A

Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region of the PRC

RN AR E

ainformation accessing media that is based on internet and
telecommunication network, which connects all individually traceable
devices, and is characterised with smart, advanced and three key
features

T — 1 L7 EL IS4 B RR AT IS B RS, BRPTH RES B S Sk
PR A TLIE T, AR Re . it T — {5 TR
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Definitions
s
“Listing”

[ 7]

“Listing Rules”

J

[ b

“Stock Exchange”

[ A2 BT )

“subsidiary(ies)”

[ B 2~ ]

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”

[ ERH

“Takeovers Code”

e Sl

“Long Eagle”

[ Long Eagle ]

“Main Board”

[EA

“Main Wealth”

[ Main Wealth |

“Mr. LI Kang Yin”

[ZEfidesert ]

“Mr. WANG Dong Bin”

[ F FOoR 564

listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 2 March 2018
ey 12 20184F3 H 2 HAE I A2 pir L 7l

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

RIS Pt e LR, BEARRHERT . A s DA77 sUE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
TEA A2 5 A IR~ )

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Companies Ordinance

EiES X SRS lne e SN PEEs

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

AT L s T ] R 5

the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs in Hong
Kong as approved by the SFC and as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

Fa s A TR . & 0F BB O R B <3 F), A0 AR B 1L vt 0 AR IR 2
A1 AR E A AR T B e

LONG EAGLE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, a company incorporated in the
BVI on 26 November 2015 with limited liability, which was wholly
owned by Toplight Management Limited. Trident Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited is interested in all the shares in Toplight
Management Limited as a trustee of the trust. Mr. Cao Mingda is the
founder of the discretionary trust. LONG EAGLE INTERNATIONAL
LIMITED is a Substantial Shareholder.

}ELONG EAGLE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, —fHF20154F11H26 H1E
LB R LB M BT A BR A R, HH Toplight Management
LIMITEDZ &4 . Trident Trust Company (Cayman) Limited/F i%
{EFE32FE N\ Toplight Management Limited [ T A 6y . 8 3%
FE R A HEEEICMAIL N . LONG EAGLE INTERNATIONAL
LIMITEDH FR A 7] 2 EZ KR

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

FRESAZ i AR

MAIN WEALTH DEVELOPMENT LIMITED, a company incorporated in
the BVI on 18 March 2016 with limited liability, which is wholly
owned by Mr. LI Kang Ying, a Substantial Shareholder and one of the
Founding Shareholders

FEMAIN WEALTH DEVELOPMENT LIMITED, — 14201643 H18H 1E
e PR LT R M SL A IR A R], 2B 50 A8 (IR S o) 2 B
Rz =G A

Mr. LI Kangying (Z=$1%¢), an executive Director of the Board, a
Substantial Shareholder and one of the Founding Shareholders

IREPUEE, HEFRGPITHESE. TR AR R —

Mr. WANG Dongbin (F 5 %t), an executive Director and chairman
of the Board, a Substantial Shareholder and one of the Founding
Shareholders

RERRSELE, APUTEREFERG IR, EERR AR —
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Definitions

“Mr. WU Zhan Jiang”

[ SR BRIT ek

“PRC” or “China”

[rh i

“RMB”

NN

llchl!
(27-% Ekﬁj

AN . 5

”SFO”

w8 77 S B Ao |

”SGCC"

LECE
“Share(s)”

[ A ]
“Shareholder(s)”

[

“Smart East”

[ Smart East |

“Union Sino”

[ Union Sino |

Mr. WU Zhanjiang (% #%VT.), an executive Director of the Board and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, a Substantial Shareholder
and one of The Founding Shareholders

FRRBRYT e, MEBFBFPITHEST . AXAATEREH. R B LA
PR 2 —

the People’s Republic of China, except where the context requires
otherwise, excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the PRC and Taiwan

fErhEE NIRIEME, BRIECE AR, SRR, J R
R AT BUE K 5 18

Renminbi, the official currency of the PRC

R BE TR AR

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

REEER N RESRELZR Y

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

T A HEVE] B8 5715 38 07 O BRG], SORIRMEET . A sn i LA A 7
AfE ek

[ EAIA PR /A=) (State Grid Corporation of China), an Independent
Third Party, a major state-owned cross-provincial electric power grid
company, are principally engaged in electric power transmission,
transformation and distribution in the PRC, other than the west Inner
Mongolia and Southern China

BHEREHEGIRAT, ABLE=T, —HMEERGEEEEAA,
BRI NS TG R E R PR T . 5 N T

ordinary share(s) of the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.01
each, subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong dollars and listed on the
Stock Exchange

FRA S AR T 0.01HE JC IR i, DAME 7GR K B B 0 iR B A8 B

kT

holder(s) of the Share(s)
I EAESZEDN

SMART EAST LIMITED, a company incorporated in the BVI on 27
November 2015 with limited liability, which is wholly owned by Mr.
WANG Dong Bin, a Substantial Shareholder and one of the Founding
Shareholders

JESMART EAST LIMITED, —ft/220154F 11 27 H 7F %58 B o Bk 5w
BOLRERR AT, HE AR AR (R KA R — R

UNION SINO HOLDINGS LIMITED, a company incorporated in the BVI
on 4 January 2016 with limited liability, which is wholly owned by Mr.
WU Zhanjiang, a Substantial Shareholder and one of the Shareholders
JEUNION SINO HOLDINGS LIMITED, —[Hl/A20164E1H 4 H 75958 i &
SRR SOZ AR AR, BRI A (EERR IR R —) 4
BHA
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. OneForce Holdings Limited



